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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WD

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), the Group
was principally engaged in three businesses: (i) pharmaceutical products
business; (i) finance leasing business; (iii) genetic testing and molecular
diagnostic services. The three business are stated as below:

Pharmaceutical Products Business

Since the acquisition of Fujian Yongchun Pharmaceutical Company Limited* (&
EKESEAFRR A F) (“Fujian Yongchun”) and Fujian Zhixin Medicine Co.,
Limited* (fB 22 EE%HE R /A F)) (“Fujian Zhixin”) in 2019, coupled with the
establishment and operation of Fujian Ruichuang Health Industry Co., Limited*
(BEImAIREEZEERAR]) (“Fujian Ruichuang’) as its new pharmaceutical
manufacturing base in 2022, the Group continued to develop its core business,
pharmaceutical products business.

Fujian Yongchun is located in Yongchun County, Quanzhou City, Fujian
Province. Its plants occupy a site area of 32,330 square metres with a gross
floor area of approximately 8,312 square metres, in which the GMP workshop
has an area of 3,581 square metres. Fujian Yongchun owns 5 drug registration
series (% & #t & 3 5R) in the PRC, to produce 5 types of oral medicine
including Yangpi San (& 2#1), Sangi panax notoginseng capsules (=t B %)
and phentolamine mesylate tablets (FF & B &) ¥ 7 85 /7). The management
decided to transfer the main production line of the Group from Fujian Yongchun
to Fujian Ruichuang after considering its long-term development, including
various factors such as local government policy support and staff recruitment.
Thereafter, Fujian Yongchun will be retained as our raw material procurement
center, while the Group will further explore the feasibility of manufacturing other
pharmaceutical products by Fujian Yongchun.

The Group will continue to increase its market share by promoting its core
products and other products produced by Fujian Ruichuang. To achieve this
goal, the Group will adjust its market positioning from time to time. In particular,
the Group currently plans to enhance its sales and promotional strategies so as
to strengthen its market penetration. Further, the Group will continue to expand
its sales team to further penetrate the traditional medicine market by
introducing sales via drugstore chains and other channels. The Group will also
fully utilize its existing sales team to increase its sales through distributors.

Fujian Zhixin possesses the Medical Operations Permit (Wholesale), Medical
Operation Quality Management System Certifications (GSP) and Food
Operations Permit. The Group acts as a sales agent nationwide for the herbal
medical materials, Chinese herbal medicine, Chinese patent medicine, chemical
drug preparations, antibiotic preparations, biochemical pharmaceuticals,
biological products, healthcare products, food products, etc.. The Group can
not only sell its pharmaceutical products through the sales network of Fujian
Zhixin, but also act as a sales agent to sell pharmaceutical and healthcare
products for other non-competing pharmaceutical companies.

During the Reporting Period, the revenue derived from pharmaceutical
products business significantly increased by approximately 183.6% to
approximately RMB152.65 million (2021: approximately RMB53.82 million). The
increase in revenue was mainly due to the success of the Group’s sales
strategy to focus on sales of self-manufactured products with relatively high
gross profit margins through committed distributors with more extensive
geographical coverage in the PRC. Therefore, the profit derived from the
pharmaceutical products business has increased by approximately 140.6% to
RMB70.90 million for the Reporting Period (2021: approximately RMB29.47
million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance Leasing Business

Zhonghuixin Finance Lease (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (FEZ@MEME ORI ER
A 7)), being an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has been
engaged in finance leasing business since 2021. The revenue derived from
finance leasing business of the Group for the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB14.82 million (2021: RMB9.30 million). The Group has
maintained a total number of 21 customers as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 6
customers).

Business Model and Customer Profiles

The Group’s finance leasing business mainly aims at providing financial leasing
services of medical devices and rehabilitation equipment which are
complimentary to the Group’s existing pharmaceutical products business. The
business nature of the lessees of our current finance leases were generally in
medical industry, pharmaceutical industry and public infrastructure industry.
However, the Group’s finance leasing services would not be limited to any
particular business nature of a client. Further, the products manufactured by
the leased medical devices and rehabilitation equipment are not related to the
business of the Group. The Group also does not preclude the possibility of
providing financial leasing services for other types of devices and equipments.

Credit Risk Assessment

The potential lessee will first approach Zhonghuixin to confirm whether the
equipment or devices fall within the scope in which financing can be provided.
The management of Zhonghuixin will conduct site visits and carry out due
diligence on the potential lessee, the equipment or devices, assess the risks of
the potential lease and followed by seeking the initial approval from the Group.
The Group will further review, inter alia, the credit quality of the potential lessee,
the purpose and value of the assets proposed to be leased, the financial
conditions of the potential lessee, the ultimate beneficial owner(s) of the
potential lessee and other relevant factors to assess the repayment capability
of the potential lessee.

Approval Process

If the Group approves the transaction in principle, the management of
Zhonghuixin will further negotiate with the lessee on the terms of the transaction
which include, inter alia, the lease terms, the interest rate, the option to
purchase the equipment or device upon expiry of the lease term, etc. The
Group will further check and seek professional advice on the compliance
requirements and the Group will comply with the requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), including making timely
disclosures and seeking Shareholder’s approval, if necessary.

The Group have established several departments (business department, risk
department, finance department and review committee) to effect division of
work (approval, release and review of the lease). The Group has also
established lease approval procedures, internal guidelines and prepares
standard forms for the finance lease business including the due diligence report
on the lessees, lease approval checklist and lease evaluation checklists.
Further, the management formulated pre-lease and post-lease administrative
measures for various departments of Zhonghuixin to follow, including the
administration of guarantees and assets charges, monitoring of overdue
payment, treatment of leased assets and post-lease agreement follow ups.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWEDH

The Board will be responsible for the final approval of material finance lease
agreements and delegate one of the executive Directors to liaise with
Zhonghuixin and directly monitors the finance lease projects with the
responsible staff of Zhonghuixin, including the review of the due diligence
report on the lessees, drafting of the lease documents, examination of the
leased assets and registration of the charges thereto (if necessary), collection
of the rental income, review of the risks and assets portfolio of the finance
leases and regular site visits and reviews of the lessees.

The Group also regularly monitors its working capital ratio, quick ratio and other
relevant financial ratios in order to drive its finance leasing business forward as
well as to balance the risks and return of the Group and its sustainability.

Finance Lease Portfolio

The Group has entered into numerous new finance leasing agreements in the
aggregate principal amount of RMB178.1 million with interest rates ranging
from 6.0%-7.0% per annum during the Reporting Period.

The weighted average term of finance leases entered into is 1.4 years (2021:
1.7 years) and all the leases require repayment by instalments. In the event the
lessee breaches the lease contract, the Group has the right to use or sell the
assets leased and to call for full or partial repayment of the outstanding balance
of finance lease receivables.

Further details of the finance lease portfolio are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company will continue to further diversify its finance leasing business with
a prudent approach in order to maximise the long-term interests of the
shareholders.

Genetic Testing and Molecular Diagnostic Services

The Group has acquired the equity interests in Zentrogene Bioscience
Laboratory Limited (“Zentrogene”) in 2019 which primarily engages in the
provision of genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services. Zentrogene
operates a laboratory with the relevant license in Hong Kong, providing services
such as non-invasive prenatal diagnosis (NIPD), tumor genetic screening, DNA
testing and paternity testing. Genetic testing is a prerequisite for precision
medicine.

During the Reporting Period, the revenue generated from genetic testing and
molecular diagnostic services amounted to approximately RMB8.45 million
(2021: RMB4.49 million), representing an increase of approximately 88.2%.
The increase was mainly due to the gradual uplift of stringent travel restrictions
between Hong Kong and nearby Southeast Asian countries and adjustment in
the Group’s pricing policy to attract increasing number of relatively more cost
conscious customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to the year of 2023, after the gradual full re-opening of the
border of Hong Kong with mainland China and the end of all COVID-19
restrictions, sustainable economic growth will become one of the key tone of
macroeconomic policies. The Group will evaluate the policies and proactively
adapt to the changes, consolidate and enhance its competitive advantages.
However, the Group expects our businesses will continue to face numerous
challenges. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to rigorously implement our
cost control measures, maintain a flexible and prudent approach and allocate
resources in an appropriate manner to strengthen its revenue base and
optimise its business and financial performance.

For pharmaceutical products, the Group expects to achieve a gradual revenue
growth for the pharmaceutical products business due to the sales of self-
manufactured products with high margin. The Group will continue to expand its
sales networks in order to enhance its market penetration rate.

For finance leasing business, the Group expects the finance leasing market to
remain stable. The Group will closely monitor the development of the finance
leasing market as well as the trend of the interest rates while remain flexible in
adjusting and optimizing its overall risk appetite and the investment portfolios.

The Group will continue to closely monitor market developments, seek potential
opportunities in existing business segments, explore and expand into other
industries or geographical regions at the appropriate time and enhance the
Group’s future development. The Group believes that the diversification of its
business will facilitate the Group’s long-term development and business
sustainability and provide better returns for its shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group generated a total revenue of
approximately RMB175.92 million, representing an increase of approximately
160.2% as compared to approximately RMB67.61 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. The increase was primarily attributed to the increase in
both the sales of self-manufactured pharmaceutical products as well as the
sales of pharmaceutical products of other non-competing pharmaceutical
companies.

Distribution Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the distribution costs of the Group
were approximately RMB1.60 million (2021: approximately RMBO0.64 million),
representing an increase of approximately 150.0%, which is commensurate
with the 160.2% increase in sales of the Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses amounted to approximately RMB17.51 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately RMB14.20 million),
representing an increase of approximately 23.3%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit and gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to approximately RMB91.68 million and 52.1% respectively (2021:
approximately RMB40.56 million and 60.0% respectively). Gross profit
increased by RMB51.12 million when compared with the corresponding period
in 2021 which was mainly attributable to the significant increase in sales of self-
manufactured pharmaceutical products with higher margin in the Reporting
Period.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB1.79 million (2021: nil). The finance costs represented the
interest expenses attributable to the convertible notes issued by the Company
on 9 February 2022.

Profit for the Reporting Period

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately RMB29.22
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing an increase of
approximately 223.6% as compared with the profit of approximately RMB9.03
million in the corresponding period in 2021. The increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in sales of self-manufactured pharmaceutical
products with higher margin.

Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share

The basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately RMBO0.95 cents and RMBO0.89 cents respectively
(2021: approximately RMBO0.29 cents and RMBO0.29 cents respectively).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB21.84 million (2021: approximately RMB16.30 million) and
most cash and cash equivalents were denominated in Renminbi and Hong
Kong dollars.

Capital Structure and Gearing Ratio
As at 31 December 2022, the total issued shares of the Company was
3,196,222,500 shares (as at 31 December 2021: 3,067,222,500 shares).

As at 31 December 2022, the share capital and equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately RMB29.74 million and approximately
RMB245.59 million respectively (2021: approximately RMB28.60 million and
approximately RMB199.07 million respectively).

The Group had reviewed the capital structure by using gearing ratio. The
gearing ratio represents the total debt, which includes trade and other
payables, interest-bearing borrowings, lease liabilities and convertible notes of
the Group, divided by total equity of the Group. The gearing ratio of the Group
was approximately 45.52% as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately
36.22%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates

For the Reporting Period, the Group conducted most of its business
transactions in Renminbi. The Group has not experienced any material
difficulties or negative impacts on its operations as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates. As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have
any foreign exchange contracts, interest or currency swaps or other financial
derivatives for hedging purpose. Therefore, the Group was not exposed to any
material interest and exchange risks during the Reporting Period. The
management, however, will monitor and consider hedging foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any other significant capital
commitment (2021: nil).

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other significant
contingent liabilities as at the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant acquisition and
disposal of investments held during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On 13 January 2022, the Company as the issuer, Mr. Zhi Shao Huan (“Mr.
Zhi”) and Mr. Jiang Heng Guang (“Mr. Jiang”) as the subscribers, and Fujian
Sanai and Fujian Zhixin as the obligors, entered into a subscription agreement,
pursuant to which, the Company has agreed to issue, and Mr. Zhi and Mr.
Jiang have agreed to subscribe for, the convertible notes in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$72,000,000 at the interest rate of 3% per annum and
at initial conversion price of HK$0.119 per share. The bank accounts of Fujian
Sanai and Fujian Zhixin were charged as security of the convertible notes, and
the entire issued share capital of Sanai International Investment Company
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company was charged in
favour of Mr. Zhi and Mr. Jiang. Completion of the issue of convertible notes
took place on 9 February 2022.

Assuming full conversion of the convertible notes at the conversion price, the
convertible notes will be convertible into 605,042,016 conversion shares,
representing approximately 19.73% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of the subscription agreement and approximately 16.48% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the conversion
shares upon full conversion of the convertible notes (based on the issued share
capital as at the date of the subscription agreement). The conversion shares
will be allotted and issued pursuant to the general mandate upon conversion of
the convertible notes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWED AN

The Company intended to use approximately 45% of the net proceeds from
the issue of the convertible notes for the purchase of production plant,
equipment and facilities and the purchase of raw materials for pharmaceutical
products, approximately 30% of the net proceeds for the enrichment of the
pharmaceutical product base, including the development of new medicines
and/or the acquisition of the drug licenses, and approximately 25% of the net
proceeds will be used for the addition for sales points and the staff costs of
additional sales staffs.

As at 31 December 2022, all of the net proceeds were used as intended.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any equity fund raising
activity during the Reporting Period.

NUMBER AND REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES

For the Reporting Period, the Group employed approximately 72 employees
(2021: 81 employees) with total staff cost of approximately RMB18.45 million
(2021 approximately RMB9.99 million) from continuing operations. The Group
determined staff remuneration with reference to the prevailing market salary
scales, individual qualifications and performance. Remuneration packages
including performance bonuses and entitlements to share options are reviewed
on a regular basis. The significant increase in the total staff cost in the
Reporting Period was primarily due to the occurrence of an one-time equity-
settled share-based payment expenses of approximately RMB9.72 million.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the Group had no
forfeited contributions under its retirement benefit scheme which may be used
to reduce the existing level of contributions as described in paragraph 26(2) of
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there was no significant
capital expenditure of the Group for property, plant and equipment.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has charged (i) the bank accounts of the
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, Fujian Sanai Biotechnology Limited* (& &
= B A& YR B R 2 7)) (‘Fujian Sanai”) and Fujian Zhixin Medicine Co.,
Limited* (18 i 2 {2 & 255 fR 2 7)) (“Fujian Zhixin”), and (i) the entire issued
share capital of Sanai International Investment Company Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as security for the convertible notes
issued by the Company in February 2022.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate
governance practice, such that the interests of our shareholders, customers,
employees as well as the long term development of the Company can be
safeguarded.

The culture of the Group is that the directors and management of the Group
are required to develop its business and operation within the boundary of the
applicable laws and regulations and the general standards and expectations of
the business community and society. The Group is required to operate based
on sound governance and utmost integrity and prohibit all kinds of damaging,
corruptive, collusive, unethical and discriminative acts.

The Company’s corporate governance structure includes the Board and three
board committees under the Board, namely the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). The Board
stipulates the terms of reference of all board committees and specifies therein
clearly the powers and responsibilities of the board committees.

The Company has complied with the provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during the year ended 31 December
2022, except for deviation from provision C.2.1 and C.1.6 of the Listing Rules
as further elaborated below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the Company’s own code for securities transactions by its
Directors. In addition, the Company has made specific enquiries with all
Directors and all Directors confirmed that during the year ended 31 December
2022, they had fully complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2022, the Board consisted of nine members, with five
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen Chengaqing, Mr. Gao Borui, Mr. Yuan
Chaoyang, Professor Zhang Rongging and Mr. She Hao, one non-executive
director, namely Mr. Xiu Yuan and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Professor Zhu Yi Zhun, Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex and Mr. Zhang
Ruigen. All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of professional ethics and personal integrity.
The biographical details of each Director are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Biographies” of this annual report. There is no relationship among
the Directors.

The Board is responsible for planning and overseeing the overall development
and management of the Group with the objective of enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the approval and
monitoring of the overall strategies and policies of the Group, approval of
annual budgets and business plans, evaluation of the Company’s performance
and oversight of the works of management.
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The Board is accountable to the shareholders and report to them at general
meetings. The day-to-day operations of the Group are delegated to the
management.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to review the overall strategy
and to monitor the operation as well as the financial performance of the
Company. The Chairman focuses on the Company’s strategy and is
responsible for chairing and managing the efficient operation of the Board and
ensuring that all key issues are considered by the Board in a timely manner.
Notice of at least 14 days has been given to all Directors for all regular Board
meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda
whenever they consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and
accompanying Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are
dispatched in full to all Directors within a reasonable time before the meeting.
Directors have to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in any
proposals or transactions to be considered at Board meetings and abstain
from voting as appropriate. Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated
to Directors for comment within reasonable time prior to confirmation. The
Board meets at least 4 times a year, at approximately quarterly intervals, to
review the financial performance and results of each period, material
investments and other matters of the Company that require the resolution of
the Board. Conference call may be used to improve attendance when individual
Director cannot attend the meeting in person. Opinions of the independent
non-executive Directors are actively sought by the Company if they are unable
to attend the meeting in person.

Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”). All Directors have access to Board papers and related
materials, and are provided with adequate information in a timely manner. This
enables the Board to make informed decision on matters placed before it.

In respect of the corporate governance functions, during the year under review,
the Board formulated the terms of reference on the corporate governance
duties and performed corporate governance duties in accordance with the
terms of reference. The Board mainly performed the following corporate
governance duties during the year under review:

o reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and made recommendations;

. reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

o reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices to ensure
compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

o developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct applicable to
directors and employees; and

o reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD ATTENDANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had convened 4 Board S

meetings and 2 general meetings.

Attendance records of the Directors are as follows:

Corporate Governance Report
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Board meetings
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Directors EZE8R BRERE
= HERE HERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chen Chengajing BRAX B8 5T 2/4 0/2
Professor Zhang Rongajing REBHIE 4/4 2/2
Mr. She Hao SKERE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Gao Borui SAmELE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Yuan Chaoyang R¥BEE 3/4 2/2
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Xiu Yuan BRLE 1/4 0/2
Independent non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun RIS HIR 4/4 2/2
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex TR A 4/4 2/2
Mr. Zhang Ruigen RIGE L L 4/4 2/2
—EREEXEEEBRAF s —_E_FFERS

15



16

Corporate Governance Report
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In respect of the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
(the “Chairman”) and chief executive officer (‘CEQ”) of the Company shall be
separated and shall not be performed by the same individual. The Board
considered that vesting the roles of Chairman and the CEO in the same person
facilitates the execution of the Company’s business strategies and maximizes
effectiveness of its operations. Mr. Chen Chengqing has resigned as the
Chairman of the Company on 17 June 2022. In November 2021, Mr. She Hao
was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company. On the other
hand, there are three independent non-executive Directors in the Board, all of
them are independent from the Company and the Board believes that there is
a sufficient check and balance in the Board. Therefore, the Board considers the
Company has provided sufficient protection to its interests and the interests of
its shareholders. The Board shall review the structure from time to time and
shall consider appropriate adjustment if suitable.

Throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, which require at least three independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. All independent non-executive
Directors have confirmed their independence, as required under Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, to the Company and the Board considers that all independent
non-executive Directors have satisfied their independence of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code stipulates that independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Mr. Xiu Yuan, the non-executive Director, did not attend the general meetings
held on 5 January 2022 and 8 June 2022 during the year ended 31 December
2022 due to his other commitments.

All non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for a term between one and two years. The appointment contracts
will be renewed automatically every year and they are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election by shareholders in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The responsibilities of the non-executive Directors
include, without limitation: regular attendance at meetings of the Board and of
board committees of which they are members; provision of independent
opinions at meetings of the Board and other board committees; resolution of or
taking the lead where there is potential conflict of interests; service on the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company; and scrutinizing and monitoring the performance of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in August 2013 and such Board Diversity Policy states the method by
which the board diversity can be reached.

To the knowledge of the Company, the fact that the Board has become
gradually more and more diversified has helped the Company achieved its
strategic objectives and has provided support for the Company’s sustainable
development.

The Company aims at achieving board diversity by taking into consideration of
various factors including age, gender, culture and educational background,
race, professional experience, knowledge and other qualifications of the
members of the Board. When the Company determines the best combination
for the members of the Board, it will, from time to time, take into consideration
of its own business model and specific needs.

The Nomination Committee has designed measurable goals according to four
major aspects (namely, age, professional qualification, term of service and
independence) for the purposes of implementing the Board Diversity Policy and
considered that it has tried its best endeavour to achieve such goals during the
year under review. The relevant goals will be reviewed from time to time so as
to ensure its appropriateness and its progress for achieving such goals. The
Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time
(if appropriate) to ensure that such policy continues to be effective.

Target has been set by the Company to appoint at least one female Board
member by the end of the year 2024 in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules. The Board will take opportunities to invite suitable female
members to join the Board when selecting and making recommendation on
suitable candidates for Board appointments.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code stipulates that Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remain informed and relevant.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development activities by way of attending trainings and/or reading materials
relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. A summary of professional trainings received by the Directors
for the Reporting Period according to the records provided by the Directors is
as follows:

EHE
REATATARKEC AT - B
EERFMIEER  LEVHRLNBR
R ARRAREE LB EAARDS
FBNER T EER AR -

EREFEREE B EEIIR L EE
ARBEBXEFRBLBABRENER
SESEFERR REESEMERTS
EENMERRIEERIOBENT

Attending seminar(s)
programme(s)/
conference(s) and/or
reading materials
relevant to

the business or
directors’ duties

HEMRSEER
BEK SEEH
(KR EEHG
BRAMNER
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Chen Chengging BRAK B 50 4 v
Professor Zhang Rongging SRR BEHIR 4
Mr. She Hao RELE v
Mr. Gao Borui [SY(Elpes v
Mr. Yuan Chaoyang REAGRE v
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Xiu Yuan BREE v
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun RIKZHIR 4
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex ST o v
Mr. Zhang Ruigen RIGAR LA v

DIVIDEND POLICY

Any distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company and the distribution shall achieve continuity,
stability and sustainability. The recommendation of the payment of any dividend
is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board and the Board shall take into
account, inter alia, the Group’s earnings per share, the reasonable return in
investment of the investors and the shareholders in order to provide incentive
to them to continue to support the Group in their long-term development, the
financial conditions and business plan of the Group, and the market sentiment
and circumstances. The dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time and
there is no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any
specific periods.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY

The Company has maintained and renewed Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities
insurance for all the Directors and the senior management of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The insurance covers them against costs,
charges, expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the corporate activities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The monitoring and assessment of certain governance matters are delegated
to the three Board committees, each of which operates under its defined terms
of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The composition of the Audit
Committee and their attendance records for the year ended 31 December
2022 were as follows:
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Directors attendance of
= R
Independent non-executive Directors BUKHITES
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex FTEABL T A 3/3
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun KRFHIR 3/3
Mr. Zhang Ruigen SRIGARSE A 3/3

Each member can bring to the committee his valuable experience in reviewing
financial statements and evaluating significant internal control and financial
issues of the Company as each of them possesses management experience in
the accounting profession or commercial sectors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and supervision
of the Company’s financial reporting system, financial statements and internal
control procedures. The Audit Committee also monitors the appointment of the
Company’s external independent auditor. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available for inspection on the website of the Company at
www.1889hk.com and the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. During the year under
review, three meetings were held and the Audit Committee has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function. The Audit Committee
together with the management of the Company also reviewed the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Group and discussed, among other
things, the risk management and internal control systems and the financial
reporting matters of the Company.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The composition of the
Remuneration Committee and their attendance records for the year ended 31
December 2022 were as follows:

FHEES
ARBERELTRAUKIFHEEGUE
EREEBESRE BE-_T -+ _H
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Number of

Directors attendance of
2x HERE
Executive Directors HTES
Professor Zhang Rongging TR BEHIR 1
Mr. Chen Chengging FRPK B2 S0

(resigned as member with effect from 17 June 2022) (BZZEZZFRATERREENKE) 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BAUKHITES
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (Chairman) AR () 1/1
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun RUGZEIE 1/1
Mr. Zhang Ruigen SRIGARSE A 11

The Board has delegated the authority to the Remuneration Committee to
review and recommend to the Board the compensation scheme of the
Directors as well as that of the senior management staff.

The main function of the Remuneration Committee is to assist the Board to
oversee the Company’s remuneration packages, bonus and other
compensation payable to Directors and senior management and establish a
transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration. The Terms
of Reference of the Remuneration Committee has been amended such that the
Committee is also responsible for reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The Board shall
provide sufficient resources to the Remuneration Committee to enable it to
discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has conducted
one meeting. The Remuneration Committee assisted the Board in reviewing on
the remuneration packages, policy and structure for the Directors and senior
management of the Company, and made recommendations to the Board. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available for inspection
on the website of the Company at www.1889hk.com and the website of the
Stock Exchange.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written terms of
reference. The composition of the Nomination Committee and their attendance
records for the year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows:
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Number of
Directors attendance of
2= HE R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chen Chengaing (Chairman) BRACEE S (£ /%)

(resigned as Chairman with effect from 17 June 2022) (BE=ZE=_—F XA+t BEHIERE) 0/
Professor Zhang Rongaing SRR HUIE 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BUKHITES
Mr. Zhang Ruigen (Chairman) SRESARCAE (EF)

(appointed as Chairman with effect from 17 June 2022) (B - - —F XA+t RAEERTET/E) 1/1
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun RAKFEHIR 1/1
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex FTERB ST A 1/1

The main functions of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, to identify individuals who are suitably
qualified to become members of the Board, and to assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors. Having regard to the
independence and quality of nominees, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board so as to ensure that all nominations are fair and
transparent. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
succession planning for Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company, and reviewing the objectives set for
implementing and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as well as the
composition and diversity of the Board. The Board shall provide sufficient
resources to the Nomination Committee to enable it to discharge its duties.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting of the Company provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years. The retiring Directors are
eligible to offer themselves for re-election.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee has conducted one
meeting in which the members of Nomination Committee has reviewed the
composition of the Board, considered the re-election of Directors, and
reviewed the independence of all of the independent non-executive Directors.
During the year under review, the Nomination Committee also monitored the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available for inspection on the website of the
Company at www.1889hk.com and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee may invite nominations of candidates from Board
members for consideration by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members. The factors which would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate of director
include, inter alia, reputation for integrity, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy, willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
Board member, diversity of the Board, and such other perspectives appropriate
to the Company’s business. The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance matters of the
Company. The Board has established its terms of reference, pursuant to which
the duties of the Board include, inter alia, (i) to develop, review and implement
the policies and practices of corporate governance matters of the Company; (ii)
to review, monitor and implement the policies and practices of the Company
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (i) to review, monitor
and implement the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (iv) to develop, review, monitor
and implement the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to Directors and employees; and (v) to review and ensure compliance with the
CG Code by the Company and proper and accurate disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the senior management
of the Company (including executive Directors), whose biographies are set out
on pages 26 to 29 of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out below:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

Z% 1,000,000 7T
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The total remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s external auditor,
Mazars CPA Limited, for their works in respect of the year ended 31 December
2022 was as follows:

Audit services FEiZRB
Non-audit services (Note) IEEIZ RS (FisE)
Total et

Note:

Non-audit services during the year included agreed-upon procedures report on the Company’s
interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
ACCOUNTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibility for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The Board acknowledges their
responsibilities for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022, which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the results and cash flows for
that period. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Board
has adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable; and have
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which set out
the financial position of the Group with reasonable accuracy at any time.

Mazars CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, has set out their
responsibilities in the independent auditor’s report as set out on pages 48 to
54 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board places great importance on risk management and internal control
and has ultimate responsibilities for overseeing management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group on an ongoing basis. The Board is also committed to
review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems at least annually.
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The Group established the risk management and internal control systems with
aims to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatements or losses caused by judgment in decision making
process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code,
the Board has engaged an independent professional firm as an outsourced
internal auditor to facilitate the Group’s internal audit function in order for the
Group to be equipped with adequate resources in conducting reviews as
required by the Stock Exchange. The independent professional internal auditor
firm also assisted the Audit Committee and the Board in performing reviews on
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group has conducted an annual risk assessment which identified
respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks
for each of the major business operations of the Group. Risk factors were
analyzed and consolidated at the Group level. Based on the risk assessment
results following a risk based methodology audit approach, an internal audit
plan was devised which prioritized the risks identified into respective annual
internal audit projects and manage the risks accordingly.

An annual review was performed by the independent professional internal
auditor firm according to the internal audit plan with a view to assisting the
Audit Committee and the Board to evaluate the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2022. The review also covered the compliance of code provisions as set out in
the CG Code and all material internal controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls at entity and operational levels. The Company has
taken further steps to enhance its risk management and internal control
systems according to some control weaknesses that were found during risk
assessment and examination of the internal control system and strengthened
the implementation of all the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has established procedures in handling and dissemination of
inside information in an accurate and secure manner to avoid possible
mishandling of inside information within the Group. Release of inside
information is subject to the approval of the Board. Unless duly authorized, all
staff members of the Company shall not communicate any inside information
to any external parties and shall not respond to any market speculation or
rumours. In addition, all external publications and presentation materials must
be reviewed by the management before release.

Based on the risk management and internal control systems established and
maintained by the Group, and the work performed by the internal and external
auditors, the Audit Committee and the Board performed an annual review on
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Audit Committee and the Board
are of the view that the Group has maintained effective and adequate risk
management and internal control systems during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the company secretary of the
Company was Ms. Li Yuen Shan. She undertook not less than 15 hours of
professional training during the year under review in accordance with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company believes that shareholders’ rights should be well respected and
protected. The Company endeavours to maintain good communications with
shareholders on its performance through interim reports, annual reports,
general meetings and public disclosure on the website of the Company
(www.1889hk.com) and the website of the Stock Exchange, so that they may
make an informed assessment for their investments and exercise their rights as
shareholders. The Company also encourages shareholders’ participation
through general meetings or other means. Specific enquiries and suggestions
by shareholders can be submitted in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
Unit 5, 7/F., Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The Company has reviewed its communication policy and given the above
measures, considered that it is effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at general meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, any one or more
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Any requisition to convene an extraordinary general meeting or proposal to be
put forward at the general meeting can be addressed to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 5, 7/F., Nanyang Plaza, 57
Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The requisitionists must
state in their request(s) the objects of the extraordinary general meeting to be
convened, and such request must be signed by all the requisitionists. Upon
receipt, the Company will verify the requisitionists’ particulars and if the request
is in order, the Company shall convene the extraordinary general meeting in
accordance with its articles of association.

CHANGE OF ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

To bring the memorandum and articles of association of the Company in line
with the relevant requirements of the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules, the Company’s shareholders passed a special resolution
at the annual general meeting held on 8 June 2022 to adopt a new set of
amended and restated Articles of Association. Details of the major
amendments brought about by the adoption of the new amended and restated
Articles of Association are set out in the Company’s circular dated 29 April
2022. The amended and restated Articles of Association is available on the
Company’s website.
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Directors’ Biographies

EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Chengqing, aged 45, has been an executive Director since 17
February 2017. Mr. Chen is an entrepreneur with more than 20 years of
experience in business management in the PRC. Mr. Chen is currently the
chairman of Guizhou Changtong Cable Co., Ltd., the vice president of Pingba
District Federation of Industry and Commerce, the executive vice president of
Anshun Zhejiang Federation of Commerce, a member of Pingba District
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and the
vice president of Guizhou Wenzhou Federation of Commerce.

Professor Zhang Rongqging, aged 66, was redesignated from an independent
non-executive Director to an executive Director on 15 September 2017.
Professor Zhang was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on
16 June 2017. He also serves as a member of each the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. He graduated
from Suzhou Medical College in 1982 with a Bachelor degree of medicine and
received PhD in animal physiology and biochemistry from Nanjing Agricultural
University in 1993. Prof. Zhang has worked as professor in Tsinghua University
since 1998, and he has been the associate dean of School of life Science in
Tsinghua University. He is currently a director of the Institute of Biomedical
Research in Yangtze Delta Region of Tsinghua University in Zhejiang, deputy
director of the Teaching Guidance Committee of Biological Technology and
Bio-engineering of the Ministry of Education, the member of the 3rd and 4th
Advisory Group of Experts of the “973” Plan in the field of agriculture of the
Ministry of Science and Technology. Prof. Zhang has received many awards
and patents in science and technology. He is a well-known senior expert in the
field of marine biochemistry & molecular biology, marine natural drug & gene
engineering, and marine biological enzyme. Prof. Zhang has been an
independent director of Shenzhen Hepalink Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002399), since
May 2014. He is also an independent director of Shandong Oriental Ocean Sci-
tech Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 002086), since April 2017.

Mr. Gao Borui, aged 63, was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
26 July 2019. Mr. Gao has extensive experience in business, finance and
accounting management. Since November 1998, Mr. Gao has consecutively
worked as the chief financial officer, the chief accountant and the assistant to the
chairman for the group companies of Xiuzheng Pharmaceutical Group Company
Limited* (f& [EZE £ B AR A7), a limited company incorporated in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and principally engaged in developing,
manufacturing and sale of healthcare medication and related products, where he
was primarily responsible for finance, budget and funds management of the group.
Mr. Gao passed exams in accounting and graduated from Changchun Taxation
College” (R&EREZFT) in Changehun City, Jilin Province, the PRC in April 2001.
Mr. Gao is a former member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Tonghua City, Jilin Province, the PRC. He is a former executive
member of the Chinese Pharmaceutical Accounting Association* (7 B &8 Gt & 51 £2
@) and the deputy secretary-general of the Accounting Association of Tonghua
City* (BIE T EETE2E).
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Mr. Yuan Chaoyang, aged 51, was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 26 July 2019. Mr. Yuan has extensive experience in business
investment, development and management. He has been the director of the
strategic planning department and project director of Delixi Group Co., Ltd.* (&
NPEEBBRAF), a limited company incorporated in the PRC and
responsible for the strategic planning and project management for the
company. From January 2017 to January 2018, Mr. Yuan served as the vice
president of project development in AVIC Joy Holdings (HK) Limited, an
investment holding company principally engaged in natural gas, construction
material and property-related business, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 260). Throughout the period, Mr. Yuan was
primarily responsible for project development, operational efficiency, quality
control and public relations management. Mr. Yuan graduated from the
People’s Armed Police Command College, Fuzhou branch* (i £ 1g 1 $5 48 £2f%)
in Fujian Province, the PRC, in 1991, majoring in Japanese Language. Mr.
Yuan completed his studies of enterprise management courses in the Graduate
School, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics* (_E /&8 48 KX 554
B) in July 2015 and obtained a certificate. He was interested or deemed to be
interested in an aggregate of approximately 27.12% of the total number of
issued shares in the Company as at 31 December 2022.

Mr. She Hao, aged 39, was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 11 November 2019. He also serves as the deputy Chief Executive Officer
and of the Group. Mr. She holds a bachelor degree in bioengineering from
Xiang Tan University in 2005, and a master of business administration from
University of Electronic Science and Technology of China in 2013. He served
as a Research and Development Engineer and project supervisor in Shanghai
Biolaxy Medical Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (L8 &8 MDEERF AR A
7)) (a pharmaceutical Research and Development institute, which was then
acquired by Anbo Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (ZBEWRIFEBR AT, a
subsidiary of Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd.* (/518 2 5 %
(EE) DB R A R]), responsible for matters relating to pharmaceutical
research and development from 2006 to 2011. He served as a quality manager
in Yifeng Pharmacy Chain Co., Ltd.* (2 A ZEEH#EBMHERAT) (a
pharmaceutical circulation enterprise, a company whose shares are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: SH603939), responsible for
channel construction and government relations from the end of 2013 to the
end of 2014; He served as an investment manager, senior investment manager
and investment director in Fortune Link Investment Holdings Limited* (R 5 [& &
AR ERAR]) (a private equity investment institute), responsible for
investment matters in relation to pharmaceuticals and other greater health
projects from 2015 to 2017. He served as an investment manager in the
Investment and Development Department of Jiangmen Sugarcane Chemical
Factory (Group) Co., Ltd. (TPIH /L THR(EE)RHD AR A A (@ company
whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
SZ000576), responsible for investment matters from September 2017 to
November 2019. Mr. She has extensive experience in pharmaceutical research
and development, circulation and pharmaceutical investment.
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EEERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Xiu Yuan, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 5 November 2018. Mr. Xiu graduated from the Economic Management of
Xian Political College of the Chinese People’s Liberation Army. He is currently
the general manager of XiuZheng Pharmaceutical Group Marketing Co., Ltd.
and a Member of the Young Entrepreneur Committee of the All-China
Federation of Industry and Commerce, a director of the 11th China Youth
Entrepreneurs Association, and the founding director of the China Youth
Entrepreneur “00 School” club.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Zhu Yi Zhun, aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 31 December 2020. He also serves as a member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Professor Zhu graduated from the School of
Medicine of the Shanghai Jiao Tong University with a bachelor degree in
Medicine in 1989, and then graduated from the School of Medicine of the
Heidelberg University with a doctor’s degree in Medicine in 1994. Professor
Zhu has been working on cardiovascular and neuropharmacology research for
nearly 20 years, and he is currently the first director and the chair professor of
the School of Pharmacy of the Macau University of Science and Technology,
and the Director of Zhuhai UM Science & Technology Research Institute.
Professor Zhu also had served as the Dean of the School of Pharmacy of
Fudan University for almost 10 years. He was also appointed as the Changjiang
Scholar Distinguished Professor of the Ministry of Education of the People’s
Republic of China, and awarded the National Outstanding Young Scholars, the
chief scientist of the National Major Scientific Research Program, and was the
person in charge of platform of new drug creation in a major project in respect
of national science and technology.

Professor Zhu was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Green International Holdings Limited, the shares of which were listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2700) for the period from 4 March 2016 to 30
June 2017. He was also appointed as an independent director of [ Fa{F R E
ZEEBRD AR AR (Shanxi C & Y Pharmaceutical Group Company, Limited®)
(stock code: 300254) for the period from June 2010 to July 2016 and an
independent director of JIPIH (L TR (£ BE)RHEBR A A (Jiangmen
Sugarcane Chemical Factory (Group) Company, Limited®) (stock code: 000576)
from August 2015 to May 2018; the shares of both of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 3 February 2021. He also serves as the chairman of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and a member of
the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Khor has accumulated more
than 20 years of working experience in the field of finance, capital market,
financial reporting and financial compliance services. Currently, Mr. Khor is a
founding director of KBS Capital Partners (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (‘KBS Capital”)
since July 2004, principally providing accounting, tax, company secretarial
compliance services, and corporate advisory services including IPO facilitation,
M&A services and project financing services. Since founding KBS Capital, Mr.
Khor has completed various IPO, M&A and project fund raising transactions for
its clients from Singapore, Malaysia and China. Mr. Khor has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of Pa Shun International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 576), a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, since 10 March 2023. Mr. Khor is also currently an independent
non-executive director of Xinming China Holdings Limited (stock code: 2699).

Prior to this, Mr. Khor was the Group Financial Controller of CFM Holdings
Limited between 2002 to 2004, the Group Financial Controller of TEE
International Limited between 2000 to 2002, and the Regional Financial
Controller of Showpla Asia Limited between 1997 to 2000, all of these
companies are listed on Singapore Exchange.

Mr. Khor was admitted as an associate and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in 1999 and 2002 respectively. He
graduated from his studies in Master of Business Administration from University
of Leicester, UK in 2004. Currently, he is a Chartered Accountant of both of the
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and Malaysian Institute of
Accountants.

Mr. Zhang Ruigen, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 25 June 2021. He also serves as a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang graduated from Southwest University
of Political Science and Law with a bachelor degree in Law in 2005. Mr. Zhang
has accumulated more than 30 years of working experience in the field of legal
and professional services. Currently, Mr. Zhang is a senior partner of Shanghai
Haoxin Law Firm since 2015. Prior to this, Mr. Zhang was a teacher of Zhejiang
Yueging Normal School from 1987 to 1991. He was a deputy director of
Zhejiang Haichang Law Firm from 1991 to 2000, the senior partner of Beijing
Lianfa Law Firm from 2001 to 2004 and supervisor of Beijing Jingzhe Law Firm
from 2004 to 2015.

* For identification purpose only
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ESEHRE

The Directors would like to present their annual report together with the audited
accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
major subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 55 and 56
respectively.

The Board of Directors does not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil) to the shareholders.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to RMB169,284,000 (2021: RMB163,433,000). Movements in the
reserves of the Group and the Company during the year under review are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 59 and in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year
under review are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
associations or the laws of the Cayman Islands which oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the shares in the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Chengging
Professor Zhang Rongaing
Mr. Gao Borui

Mr. Yuan Chaoyang

Mr. She Hao

Non-executive Director
Mr. Xiu Yuan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex

Mr. Zhang Ruigen

Mr. Gao Borui, Mr. Yuan Chaoyang and Professor Zhu Yi Zhun will retire from
office by rotation in accordance with Article 87(1) of the articles of association
of the Company and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2022.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 26 to 29 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including Directors standing for re-election in the
forthcoming annual general meeting) has entered into any contract of service,
which is not determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation), with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries.

Directors’ Report

ESEEHRE

=
BEHAREERFHRAY  ARREFS

BITES
BRACE £ 4
REEHI
= IAkn A
RPGEE

REFLLE

FHTES
BREE

BYFHITES
RARFZHIR
ST
RIGARSE A

BEmEE  RPGEERRKEHRER
BEAR R AEBERAENE87(1) &M FEE AR
BERE LWERE ITHEERRBEE
BIBLE -

BIMCEERRA

HE—_Z-—F+-A=+—HIEE K
AR ASBUIINTEEENEBEHNEE
N FERER ORI TR AIESASIERT
BB MES AR RRABEBESY AT

-~
VAR

E=EE
ERMEHNAFRF6E29E -

EZRBEEE

BEES (BENEERAF NS BEET
MESR) BAR R HEAMNE AR A A
HEIN —FAKIEMBAFLEECEER
ERRIN MRS AR

CEREEXEBERAT s 2 FFERS

31



32

Directors’ Report

ESEHRE

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the executive directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics. The remuneration of
the non-executive directors (including the independent non-executive directors)
of the Company are recommended by the Remuneration Committee. The
details of emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company has renewed the Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities insurance for
all the Directors and the senior management of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The insurance covers them against costs, charges,
expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the corporate activities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for the contracts of service entered into with respective Directors, no
contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year under review.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme is set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the Group had no
forfeited contributions under its retirement benefit scheme which may be used
to reduce the existing level of contributions as described in paragraph 26(2) of
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Number of shares Total number of percentage of
held/interested shares held/ the total issued
(Note 1) interested shares
iEczc Vg Lot = s/ HERT
Name of directors Capacity RHEE BERER IR B E
EEnA 227 (Bf=E1) LSvEE -t BMABDL
Mr. Yuan Chaoyang (“Mr. Yuan”)  Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2) 836,753,000(L) 866,753,000 27.12%
RBEGERE(REED XY EE R (T2
Beneficial owner (Note 2) 30,000,000(L)
ERBBA(ME2)
Mr. Chen Chengging (“Mr. Chen”)  Beneficial owner 2,800,000(L) 2,800,000 0.09%
PBRAKEE S (TR 4 D) ERmEA
Professor Zhang Rongaing Beneficial owner 28,000,000(L) 28,000,000 0.88%
REBHR EanlEAA
Mr. She Hao Beneficial owner 22,000,000(L) 22,000,000 0.69%
REKHE ERmEA
Mr. Gao Borui Beneficial owner 5,000,000(L) 5,000,000 0.16%
miEmEE EanlEAA
Mr. Xiu Yuan Beneficial owner 10,000,000(L) 10,000,000 0.32%
BREE ERmEA
Notes: PR3E
1. The letter “L” denotes long position in the shares. 1. [L] R 2R -
2. According to the disclosure of interest form submitted by Mr. Yuan on 8 April 2022 in 2. RIERAREER T _FHNAN\BRZNESF

accordance with Part XV of the SFO, 836,753,000 of these shares are registered in the
name of Cyber Success Global Investments Limited (“Cyber Success”), which is wholly-
owned by Mr. Yuan. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yuan is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Cyber Success is interested. Mr. Yuan is also beneficially interested in
30,000,000 shares of the Company.

3. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of 3,196,222,500 issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this report.

RAEGEPEXVEBRERDRE  ZFROF
2 836,753,000 % AR St 4 2 & HE B MY BEAOR TR
REARAR(BEBRR]) 2E2HEL - RIE
FEHREEED  REEEEBARKERLESR
Rz 2HBROTHEEER - REETNARAF
30,000,000 A& A7 S B et s ©

3. RIEEDLIRAREBRZ ARQEEBEITRG
3,196,222,500 IR EE A H -
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company is aware of any other Director or chief executive of the Company
who has any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation which were
required to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Old Share Option Scheme (as defined below) and the New Share
Option Scheme (as defined below), at no time during the year ended 31
December 2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company in any other body
corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES IN THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the Company, had an interest or a short position in the shares or
underlying shares in the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Number of shares

BREXHBEEEN RZTEZZ_F+=A
=+—8B RARFEZTRERTRAEMN
M ERNARAEMESSERITHRASL
PR B 3 B AT R AR B A B A R ] AR 4D
HERGO MEEETHEEREESRBEK
55 352 {FZBHI AR R B FiF & B akiB &
ZRTRIZBNE A RQ B KRB R 2 TR
AR ©

EsWBERONEERNER
BERAER B (B LT R B RER
E(EBER TN RBE_T-__F+=
A=Z+—RIEFEAEORE  KAFHHE
ERZHEARBMET LEMLEAEESR
Al FE BB AR R R R R AbE A B R
IS AEREE M EB A

FERRREQRAZROREERDH
EERKRE

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=1+—H UTAL(X
NEIEFHERITEABRIN RARBIRG
SHERARR () B R IR TR 5 K HAE 140 55 336 {5
AIAKRARIFFEEECMOESSAE N
T

Approximate
percentage of the
total issued shares

held/interested Total number of (Note 2)
(Note 1) shares held/ HERITRA
iE=2 -y ¥o) interested ‘BEm
Name of shareholders Capacity ERROEE iE=2 oV Lo BABESL
RRER S 227 (Bf=E1) ERROBE (Hf=E2)
Mr. Yuan Chaoyang (“Mr. Yuan”) Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2) 836,753,000(L) 866,753,000 27.12%
=AGRE(REE]) X EE R (2
Beneficial owner (Note 2) 30,000,000(L)
EREA A2
Cyber Success Beneficial owner (Note 2) 836,753,000(L) 836,753,000 26.18%
REKERIR Eala A2
Notes: e
1) The letter “L” denotes long position in the shares of the Company. (1) [LIERARRRRMGO P ZITE °

2) According to the disclosure of interest form submitted by Mr. Yuan on 8 April 2022 in
accordance with Part XV of the SFO, 836,753,000 of these shares are registered in the
name of Cyber Success, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Yuan. By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
Yuan is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Cyber Success is interested.
Mr. Yuan is also beneficially interested in 30,000,000 shares of the Company.

) The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of 3,196,222,500 issued
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company was not aware of any person, other
than the Directors of the Company whose interests or short positions are set
out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations” above, who had an interest or a short position
in the shares or underlying shares in the Company which were required to be
recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO as at 31 December 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Schemes

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Share Option
Scheme”) for, among others, the senior management and employees on 8
January 2007, which serve as incentives or rewards to attract, retain and
motivate staff. The Old Share Option Scheme was expired on 7 January 2017.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed on 16 June 2017, the Company has
adopted another share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) for,
among others, the senior management and employees, which serves as
incentives or rewards to attract, retain and motivate staff. The New Share
Option Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10 years commencing on 21
June 2017. Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
options to all full-time employees, Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) and part-time employees with weekly working hours of 10
hours and above, of the Group, substantial shareholders of each member of
the Group, associates of the directors and substantial shareholders of any
member of the Group, trustee of any trust pre-approved by the Board, and any
advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant, distributor, supplier, agent,
customer, joint venture partner, service provider of the Group whom the Board
considers, at its sole discretion, has contributed or contributes to the Group.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 5 January 2022, the scheme mandate limits of the New
Share Option Scheme were refreshed and renewed. The said refreshed
scheme mandate limits were solely used to grant options to the category (i) as
set out in the definitions of the eligible participants (i.e. all full-time employees,
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) and part-time
employees with weekly working hours of 10 hours and above of the Group)
under the New Share Option Scheme as incentives or rewards for their
continuous contributions and loyalty to the Group. On 29 April 2022,
174,000,000 share options were granted by the Company to certain eligible
persons under the New Share Option Scheme including 5 Directors at the
exercise price of HK$0.084 per share. Further details of the said share options
granted are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 29 April 2022.

The number of options available for grant under the mandate (and refreshed
mandate) of the New Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2022 and 31
December 2022 was 477,250 and 132,722,250 respectively.

Other than the abovementioned share option schemes, the Company does not
have other share schemes. The number of shares that may be issued in
respect of options granted under those share option schemes represented
approximately 2.67% of the weighted average number of Shares for the
Reporting Period.
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The following table sets out the movements in the share options of the TREVNFREHABAARRN G ERE ([ BR

Company (the “Share Options”) during the Reporting Period: ) EE)
Number of Share Options Closing price
BREHR of the shares
At Granted  Cancelled or Exercise At immediately
Category of 1 January during the  lapsed during during 31 December Exercise before the
participant 2022 period the period the period 2022 Dateofgrant  Exercise period price  date of grant
R® R 324
b St B b St 2 R B A
SEALER -A-8 BRRE EE3e BRaE TZA=t-B RHAH figid TEE ROKTE
(Note 1) HKS HKS
GE3) 7 7
Directors
iz
Professor Zhang 22,000,000 - - - 22,000,000 24 May 2018 24 May 2018 to 23 May 2023 0.32 0.32
Rongaing —E-N\F “E2-\FRAZTWmAZE
REEHEK AAZtME ZZZ=FRA-1=H
Mr. Chen Chengqing 2,800,000 - - - 2,800,000 30May2018 30 May 2018 to 29 May 2023 0.335 0.335
RRERE —Z-\%F “E-)\§hA=1AZ
BA=TAH —EZ=FRAZTAR
Mr. Gao Borui - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 29 April 2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 0.084 0.078
BEREE :;:: “ZZZFMAZTARE
Mr. Yuan Chaoyang - 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 - 29 April 2022 29 Aer 2022 to 28 April 2032 0.084 0.078
FHBEE bk Stk ZZ--FNA=+hAE
mA=-+AR —E=—&#mA-+/\H
Mr. She Hao - 22,000,000 - 22,000,000 - 29 April 2022 29 Apn\ 2022 to 28 April 2032 0.084 0.078
RKERE —ZoCF Z__FERAZTIEE
mA=t+hA “FMAZT/\R
Professor Zhang - 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 29 April 2022 29 Apn\ 2022 to 28 April 2032 0.084 0.078
Rongaing —E-CF T__FNA=thBE
REEHK mA=+AR —ERAZTNE
Mr. Xiu Yuan - 10,000,000 - B 10,000,000 29 April 2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 0.084 0.078
BERE i St F__FNA=thHE
mA-thA Z—E=—f#WA-+/H
24,800,000 73,000,000 - 52,000,000 45,800,000
Other participant
Higg8AL
Employess in 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 30May 2018 30 May 2018 to 29 May 2023 0.335 0.335
aggregate N\ “E-)\$hA=1AZ
(Bt TA=THE —Z-=fRA-tHA
Non-employees in 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 30May2018 30 May 2018 to 29 May 2023 0.335 0.335
aggregate (Note 2) ZE)\E —F-)\§nA=1AZ
FEELY(FE2) AA=+H ZEZ=5RAZTAAE
Employees in - 101,000,000 - 77,000,000 24,000,000 29 April 2022 29 Aer 2022 to 28 April 2032 0.084 0.078
aggregate —E-CF
EEHH mA=+AR
36,800,000 174,000,000 - 129,000,000 81,800,000
Notes: e
1. The Share Options are not subject to any vesting period nor any performance target. 1. B AR AN AN S 1] 55 B HA sk S 48 B AZFATIR ©
2. The non-employee is Mr. Wang Chunliang (% £.), a consultant of the Group. 2. HFEERAEBZEMEER A -
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DIRECTORS’ AND MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the directors’” emoluments on an individual and named basis and

the fiv
consol

e highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note 11 to the
idated financial statements. The remuneration policies of the Group are

as follows:

The C

The amount of remuneration for the Directors or the employees is
determined according to their relevant experience, responsibilities,
workload, contributions and years of service in the Group and with
reference to the goals and objectives of the Group;

The non-monetary benefits are determined by the Board (or by the
relevant management after consultation with the Board) and may be
provided in the remuneration package of the Directors or the employees;
and

No person participates in the deliberation or approval of his own
remuneration package.

ompany’s policies concerning remuneration of the Directors are as

follows:

)

(i)

(i)

the amount of remuneration is determined on a case by case basis
taking into consideration of the relevant Director’s experience,
responsibility, workload and the time devoted to the Group;

non-cash benefits may be provided at the discretion of the Board to the
relevant Directors under their remuneration package; and

the Directors may be granted, at the discretion of the Board and in
accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules, with share
options under the share option scheme adopted by the Company, as
part of their remuneration package.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information of revenue and purchases attributable to the major customers
and suppliers of the Company for the year under review is as follows:

Revenue from sales of goods HEEmBREMS
or rendering of services PR # Fr 15 U 2

The largest customer BAEP

Five largest customers in aggregate hAAREFPEH

Purchases BEE

The largest supplier BAHER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAHEEA L

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (who to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in the major suppliers and major customers noted

above.
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PROVISION FOR LITIGATION AND AUDIT QUALIFICATION

Due to the uncertainties in relation to the impacts of the litigation on the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, the Auditor had been
unable to obtain supportable evidence for the Auditor to assess whether any
provision should be provided at 31 December 2022 and 2021 in relation to the
litigation and whether the profit or loss effect on the provision of litigation
should be reported for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 were
properly stated. The Auditor had issued qualified opinion on this matter.

There was no difference in view on this basis for audit qualification between the
Auditor and the Company’s management.

The details of the basis are as follows:

(i) The management is of the view that no provision should be provided
concerning the Litigations as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 in light of
the basis as stated in the Appeal (to be defined in the section headed
“LITIGATION”). However, the result of the Appeal was not yet available
up to the date of the Annual Report of the Company, which led to the
uncertainties on the extent and financial impact arising from the Litigation
on the consolidated financial statement of the Company; and

(ii) The Company, as one of the joint guarantors under the Finance Lease
Agreement 2016 (to be defined in the sub-section headed “Litigation” in
the Directors’ Report), is jointly liable together with other joint guarantors
in the Litigations. The extent of and financial impact on the provision for
Litigations on the Company is uncertain.

The Company has, through its PRC legal representatives, endeavoured
to liaise with the court as to when the trial could proceed. However, the
court replied that they were occupied and would not be able to commit
as to specifically when such trial could be arranged at the date of this
Report. As such, the Company confirms that there is currently no
concrete timetable for the Litigations. Accordingly, the Company is of
the view that there is no certainty in the results of the Litigations up to
now.

As mentioned above, the Company was not in control and not in the
position to provide any conclusive supportive evidence to the Auditor
regarding the assessment concerning the Litigations. The Company will
continue to liaise with the court on the progress of the Appeal and
further discuss with the Auditors once any updates relating to the Appeal
is available.

The management of the Company engaged a PRC lawyer to issue a
legal opinion on the likely outcome of the litigation case to address the
concerns of the Auditor. Nevertheless, the Auditor considered that the
said legal opinion is insufficient to eliminate the uncertainties of the
Litigations by contemplating 1) the fact that the judgement had been
made by Beijing No.4 Intermediate People’s Court * 1t ST 25 U /R 4% A
RJEBT dated 22 December 2020; and 2) the uncertainties as mentioned
above. The Company further understands from the Auditor that they
would likely to continue to issue qualified opinion on the provision of
litigation until the final judgement of the court on the litigations is available
whereby all uncertainties in relation to such litigation will ultimately be
removed.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed and concurred with the management’s
view.

The Company understands that the Auditor could only remove the qualification
after the final judgement of the court on the litigations is available. Even if the
management is going to make a full provision in the consolidated financial
statements, the Auditors would still have doubt and uncertainty on the truth
and fairness of such provision amount, which may result in substantial
difference against the final judgement to be ultimately handed down by the
court, and as such the qualified opinion will still remain.

The Company also note that the Auditor is not in the position on advising as to
whether the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the financial
year ending 31 December 2023 will be free of the audit qualification specifically
with respect to the subject litigation at this juncture since, as explained above,
the basis leading to the qualification arose from the uncertainties pertaining to
the Appeal.

The Company understands that in the event that the Appeal will be heard and
the relevant judgement is made before the announcement of the annual results
of the Company for the financial year ending 31 December 2023, such
uncertainties would no longer exist and, given that (1) the management will take
immediate appropriate action to fully reflect the financial impact brought by the
final judgement of the court in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ending 31 December 2023; and (2) the Auditor is satisfied
with the supporting documents and audit evidence to be provided by the
management, such qualification would then be removed accordingly.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save for the events disclosed below, there was no other major subsequent
events occurred since the Reporting Period up to the date of this report.

ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 9 February 2022, the Company has issued the convertible notes in the
principal amount of HK$72,000,000, details of which are set out in the
paragraph headed “Equity Fund Raising Activities” of this report.

On 3 March 2023, the Company entered into the supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) with the subscribers and the obligors, pursuant to
which, the Company, the Obligors and the Subscribers conditionally agreed to
amend the conversion price to HK$0.098 per conversion share and maturity
date to 9 February 2026 and make certain related changes under the
Instrument. The Company has redeemed part of the convertible notes in the
principal amount of HK$12,000,000 and paid all the interest accrued thereon,
the total outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes is
HK$60,000,000. As at the date of the Supplemental Deed, the Company had a
total of 3,210,222,500 Shares in issue. Assuming there is no further issue or
repurchase of the Shares, based on the amended conversion price at
HK$0.098 per conversion share and assuming full conversion of the
outstanding Convertible Notes at the amended conversion price, the
outstanding Convertible Notes will be convertible up to the maximum of
612,244,897 Shares, representing approximately 19.1% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the Supplemental Deed and
approximately 16.0% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the issue of the conversion shares upon full conversion of the outstanding
Convertible Notes.

All conditions precedent to the amendments under the Supplemental Deed
have been fulfiled and completed on 20 March 2023.

Further details of the issuance of convertible notes and the Supplemental Deed
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 13 January 2022, 26
January 2022, 31 January 2022, 9 February 2022, 9 February 2023, 3 March
20283 and 20 March 2023, respectively.
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LITIGATION

The Company has received a civil judgement (the “Judgement”) dated 22
December 2020 issued by 1t Z 11 2 IO 4t A RIEPBT (the No. 4 Intermediate
People’s Court of Beijing®) (the “Court”) in relation to a litigation (the “Litigation”)
brought by 1t =R 3L B &R &R % AR A 7 Beiing Cultural Technology
Finance Lease Company Limited*, the “Plaintiff’) against, among others, (a) the
Company; (b) Fujian Sanai, the disposal of which was completed in April 2019; (c)
Lin Ouwen, a former executive Director; and (d) Lin Min, a former executive
Director.

The Plaintiff first filed a statement of claim (the “Statement of Claim”) with the
Court on 30 August 2018, whereby, among others, the Plaintiff alleged that (i)
Fujian Sanai, a then subsidiary of the Company, had entered into a finance lease
agreement (the “Finance Lease Agreement 2016”) with the Plaintiff on 21 March
2016, pursuant to which the Plaintiff agreed to lease certain assets to Fujian Sanai
for a term of 36 months with a total leasing cost of RMB134,954,600 and an
interest rate of 8.3%; (i) each of the Company, Lin Ouwen, who was a then
executive Director, and Lin Min, entered into a guarantee agreement with the
Plaintiff respectively to provide joint guarantee (the “Guarantee”) for the debts
owed by Fujian Sanai under the Finance Lease Agreement 2016; and (jii) Fujian
Sanai had failed to pay the rent payable under the Finance Lease Agreement 2016
since 20 August 2017, and the Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min had failed to
fulfil their obligations as guarantors. The Statement of Clam was received by the
Company in July 2019.

As such, the Plaintiff demanded, among others, that () Fujian Sanai immediately
pay to the Plaintiff the unpaid due rent in the amount of RMB33,855,032.69 with
the default interest accrued thereon, undue rent in the amount of
RMB47,592,982.21, default payment in the amount of RMB4,759,298.22 (being
10% of the undue rent), the legal fees in the amount of RMB800,000, the retention
purchase price of RMB100 and the cost incurred in relation to the Litigation; and (i)
the Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min be jointly liable for the debts owed by Fujian
Sanai under the Finance Lease Agreement 2016.

The Plaintiff also submitted to the Court a copy of the alleged minutes of the
Board meeting held on 22 March 2016 during which resolutions were passed to
approve, inter alia, the provision of the Guarantee by the Company. However, only
two of the then Directors, Lin Ouwen and Lin Qingping, were recorded to have
attended and voted on the said resolutions.

Pursuant to the Judgement, Fujian Sanai shall, among other things, within ten
days of the Judgement, pay to the Plaintiff the unpaid due rent under the Finance
Lease Agreement 2016 in the amount of RMB33,855,032.69 with the default
interest accrued thereon, the accelerated due rent under the Finance Lease
Agreement 2016 in the amount of RMB47,592,982.21, the default payment in the
amount of RMB4,759,298.22, the retention purchase price of RMB100, the legal
fees in the amount of RMB800,000, the announcement fees in the amount of
RMB2,650, the preservation insurance fees in the amount of RMB175,636.06 and
the preservation fees in the amount of RMB5,000 (collectively the “Judgement
Amount”); and the Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min shall be jointly liable for the
Judgement Amount, and they are entitled to claim against Fujian Sanai after
discharging such joint liabilities.
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The Company has lodged an appeal (the “Appeal”) against the Judgement to 1t
R s ARER (the Higher People’s Court of Beiling®) on 22 January 2021.

Pursuant to the Appeal, the Company has pleaded to it ZHE M AREFR (the
Higher People’s Court of Beijing) to rule that the Finance Lease Agreement 2016
and the Guarantee were invalid, and to reject all of the Plaintiff’s claims.

As at the date of this report, the Appeal was still in progress at the 1t = = A A
RJEBE (the Higher People’s Court of Beijing®).

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 18
January 2021 and 4 February 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report for the corporate governance principles and practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 13 to 25 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public
float as required under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group did not make any charitable donations
(2021: Nil).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transaction by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Upon specific enquiries made by the Company, all Directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standards as set out
in the Model Code throughout the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or any of their connected entities had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to or involved in at the end of the year under review or
at any time during the year under review.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at
the end of the year under review or at any time during the year under review,
and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any time during
the year under review.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors had an interest in a business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Company or has any other conflict of interest
with the Company during the year under review.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Board has established an
audit committee on 8 January 2007, with written terms of reference. The
primary duties of the audit committee are to review the financial reporting
procedures and internal control and risk management systems and provides
guidance in relation thereto. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors as at the date of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practice
adopted by the Company as well as the audited financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 before recommending to the
Board for approval.

AUDITORS

On 23 February 2021, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited has resigned as auditor of the
Company and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“Zhonghui Anda”) was
appointed on the same day by the Directors to fill casual vacancy so arising.

During the Reporting Period, Zhonghui Anda has resigned as auditor of the
Company on 11 November 2022 and Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) has
been appointed as auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy arising
from the resignation of Zhonghui Anda.

Zhonghui Anda has been the auditor of the Company since 23 February 2021
and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, 2020 and 2021 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been audited by Mazars. Mazars will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for its reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Performance and Future Development

The discussion on the Group’s business performance and future development,
being part of the Directors’ Report, is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Key Financial Performance Indicators

The analysis of the Group’s key financial performance indicators, being part of
the Directors’ Report, is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report.
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RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

Our newly launched products may not be well received by the
market.

The success of a pharmaceutical company depends, to a large extent, on
whether the products it introduces to the market are well received by the
market. The primary factors which may affect the acceptance of our products
by the market include efficacy, quality and price. In particular, the introduction
of new products requires substantial investment of capital resources and
research and development efforts. If any of our new drugs is not well received
by the market because its efficacy is not as good as expected, it is too
expensive compared to other substitutes, or for any other reason, we may not
be able to recoup the investment we have made in developing such new drug,
in which case our financial condition and results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY

The pharmaceutical industry is extremely competitive.

Our business is subject to competitions from other pharmaceutical
manufacturers. Chinese and international pharmaceutical manufacturers
engaged in the manufacture and sale of substitute or similar products to ours
in China may have more capital resources, better research and development
capabilities and more experience in manufacturing and marketing. Many of our
competitors, including large pharmaceutical companies and other generic drug
manufacturers, have employed various strategies intended to maximize their
market share for previously-patented products. Competition is likely to intensify
if (i) the number of manufacturers or distributors of substitute or similar
products increases due to increased market demand or increased prices; (i)
competitors drastically reduce prices due to oversupply of products; or (iii)
competitors develop new products or substitute products having comparable
medicinal applications or therapeutic effects that may be used as direct
substitutes for our products which are more effective with prices comparable
to or lower than our products.

Our Company is subject to environmental regulations and may be
exposed to liability and potential costs for environmental compliance.
We are subject to the PRC laws and regulations concerning the discharge of
effluent water and solid waste during our manufacturing processes. We are
required to obtain certain clearances and authorizations from governmental
authorities for the treatment and disposal of such discharge. Any violation of
these regulations may result in substantial fines, criminal sanctions, revocation
of operating permits, shutdown of our facilities and obligation to take corrective
measures. Our costs of complying with current and future environmental
protection laws and regulations, and liabilities which may potentially arise from
the discharge of effluent water and solid waste, may adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The government may adopt more stringent environmental regulations and there
is no assurance that we will be at all times in full compliance with these
regulatory requirements. Due to the possibility of unanticipated regulatory or
other developments, the amount and timing of future environmental
expenditures may vary substantially from those currently anticipated. If there is
any unanticipated change in the environmental regulations, we may need to
incur substantial capital expenditures to install, replace, upgrade or supplement
our pollution control equipment or make operational changes to limit any
adverse impact or potential adverse impact on the environment in order to
comply with new environmental protection laws and regulations. If such costs
become prohibitively expensive, we may be forced to modify, curtail or cease
certain of our business operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental protection to the
sustained stable development of enterprises. Striving to strike the best balance
between cost control and environmental protection, the Group consistently
executes various measures on clean production, energy saving, reducing
consumption, etc. The Group also carries out regular reviews on various
environmental protection measures and routine jobs, to ensure that all
environmental protection permission and approval required by the regulatory
authorities of the PRC will be granted.

In the meantime, the Group endeavours to create an environmentally-friendly
work environment to promote the environmental awareness to employees by
encouraging them to use less electricity and paper, and recycle office supplies
and other materials.

The Company shall issue the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
separately in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules in due
course.

LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE SIGNIFICANT IMPACT
ON THE COMPANY

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing, marketing and selling of
branded prescription and non-prescription drugs as well as Chinese
pharmaceutical products in the PRC. The production of all pharmaceutical
products must comply with the current Good Manufacturing Practice standard
of the PRC, and be approved by the China Food and Drug Administration. The
Group also needs to comply with the Production Safety Law, Law on
Employment Contracts and Company Law of the PRC. As the shares of
Company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Company is
also required to comply with the Listing Rules and the disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group is not aware of any
occurrence of material breach of laws or regulations that have significant
impact on the Group.

The Group acknowledges that as the PRC is in the midst of the critical period
for healthcare system reform, it is expected that relevant laws, regulations and
policies regarding the healthcare and pharmaceutical industry will be updated
frequently. Hence, the Group will pay close attention to the updates and timely
implement measures required by the relevant laws and regulations so as to
ensure the business and operation are not adversely affected.
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IMPORTANT RELATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Employees

The Group endeavours to develop and maintain good working relationship with
the employees. The Group provides its directors and senior management with
continuous professional trainings, including seminars and workshops, such that
the latest changes of regulatory requirements and corporate governance
practices can be introduced and considered. Aiming to raise the operational
efficiency, the Group also organises various pre-employment and on-the-job
trainings to deepen the employees’ understanding of its business objectives
and operation. In the aspect of safeguarding the occupational safety and health
of employees, the Group spares no effort to provide employees with a safe
work environment and enhance their health and safety awareness. In addition,
the Group provides competitive remuneration, rewards program, retirement
and medical benefits to attract and incentivise employees.

Suppliers

The Group selects the suppliers prudently and requires them to satisfy certain
evaluation criteria, including track records, experience, financial strength, legal
and regulatory compliances, reputation, ability to manufacture high-quality
products, etc. The Group has developed long-term collaborative relationships
with various suppliers and endeavours to make sure that they comply with the
Group’s commitment to quality and ethics.

Sales Agents and Distributors

The Group sells pharmaceutical products to drug stores through sales agents
and distributors. The Group requires the sales agents and distributors to
comply with the relevant laws and regulations and the Group’s marketing
policies. The Group also collaborates with the distributors by providing training
for their frontline salespersons to ensure that they provide high-quality sales
services.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ® Annual Report 2022
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UPDATE ON THE DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of information of
the Directors subsequent to the date of the Company’s 2021 Annual Report
are set out below:

On 17 June 2022, Mr. Chen Chengqing (“Mr. Chen”) has resigned as (i) the
chairman of the Board; (ii) one of the authorised representatives of the
Company (the “Authorised Representative”) (for the purpose of Rule 3.05 of
the Listing Rules); (iii) the chairman of the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) of the Company; and (iv) the member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. She Hao, an executive Director,
has been appointed as the Authorised Representative, and Mr. Zhang Ruigen,
an independent non-executive Director, has been appointed as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee, with effect from 17 June 2022.

Further details were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17
June 2022.

By order of the Board

SHE HAO
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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B BT HR S

mazars
B EH X W

TO THE MEMBERS OF

SANAI HEALTH INDUSTRY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
CEREEESEERAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sanai Health Industry
Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”), set out on pages 55 to 138, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the
“Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 31
December 2022, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Provision for litigation

Due to the uncertainties in relation to the litigation as disclosed in Note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to assess whether any provision should be provided
in relation to the litigation at 31 December 2022 and 2021 and the profit or loss
effect on any provision for the litigation should be reported for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

We were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the figures as
described above were necessary which might have a consequential effect on
the Group’s financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 and the financial position of the Group at 31
December 2022 and 2021, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the 2022 Annual
Report of the Company but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. As
described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section above, we were unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about the provision for litigation.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information is
materially misstated with respect to this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT HR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS BREREE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were FAREXEEESREEENEEHE 245
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the ARG APBRENEZRAEENEIE -
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the HZESTHRE TS EREREGAVBRERN
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion HEASRBETEIE - BSETeWZEEHE
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In REHEBNER -BRIREEEZEF| —f

addition to the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section, we i BEET NI EEABRAR
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be SEBBAREREE -

communicated in our report.

Key audit matter
HREXEHE

Trade and other receivables and finance lease receivables

EZRUMEREMERGEUARBEHERNKHE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEZENNMEEREERER

The Group tested the amount of trade and other receivables and
finance lease receivables for recoverability. This recoverability review is
significant to our audit because the balance of trade and other
receivables and finance lease receivables of approximately
RMB12,674,000 and RMB332,045,000 at 31 December 2022,
respectively, are material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s recoverability review involves application of
judgement and is based on estimates made by the management of the
Group.

EEEASE 5 EUCGRIA K E AL EYRIEIA LR E S BKRESD
BMEVATIEME o s BB ESNERNEBEXR - REARK
ZEZCFTZR=+—HMNE FEWGRIA KX E At E W R IE LA K
EHERBRBEG D NN/ ARKE126740007T & A R ¥
332,045,0007C * WirAMBMEMSBEAK - Uboh - EREEYA]
et EMS RER S R KE BEXEEREEDOME -

Related disclosures are included in Notes 5, 19 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
MR SN GR A M ISREMI S - 19 %20 ¢
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Our procedures, among others, included:
EENEZIEFEPBE

() assessing the Group’s policies and procedures on
granting credit limits and credit periods to
customers and debtors and the Group’s
impairment provisioning policy in accordance with
the requirements of applicable accounting
standards;

@ HREERGENTE EXERTSREBA
REGEERRGEEHNBERET KiTE &8
B R ER OB

(b)  assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction
history with the customers and debtors;

b FHE BERESRFEFPREBANEERERZESL

(c) evaluating the Group’s recoverability assessment;
© FHE EHREYRYEM R

(d) assessing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
ageing categories of the debts;

(o) HERFEESRE D BRERENE

(e) assessing creditworthiness of the customers and
debtors;

@ FHEEPREBANEE:

(f) checking, on a sample basis, subsequent
settlements from the customers and debtors; and
 HEREFEFPLEBANHEBEHEER &

(9) assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk in the consolidated financial
statements.

@ FHE ERERYNSEEVBRREERR



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HRELSH

Valuation of convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss

EERBAFPEFABRZZEHMEEHNTERELZ14E

Independent Auditor’s Report

B R BETRE

REEZEE ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNRERRERER

As 31 December 2022, the fair value of the convertible notes was
approximately RMB65,089,000.

RZBZZF+ZA=+—0 JBREBEZAFEHNAARE
65,089,000 7T °

The management of the Group engaged an independent professional
valuer to estimate the fair values of the convertible notes at issue date
and at 31 December 2022, respectively.
EEEEEELZABUEXAEMETAIRRERS FINEITHER
—E-—F+-A=+—BZAF¥E-

We have identified the valuation of the convertible notes as a key audit
matter because the amount involved is significant and the valuation of
the convertible notes and the related disclosures require market data
and modelling techniques which rely on a range of inputs. Where
observable market data are not available, or where instruments are not
liquid, estimates must be developed based on the most appropriate
source data. These estimates are subject to significant judgement. In
addition, we have identified the disclosure of the fair value of the
convertible notes in the fair value hierarchy as an area of focus.
Besides, the recognition and measurement of the convertible notes
involved significant judgement and estimates made by the
management of the Group.
EEEBNNHRRERZEERMREREE  RERMISHRE
ARARREZ HERERERTEMSHEREREREH AR
B2 ERERT o WA BRTISEREENS - s TARARBIE
A MERBSEE < RIRBIBIEL AT « 2B MR EXHIER S -
BRitzsh EEEHERATERRAREIRRER 2 A FEHR
REL LN ATRRBIBEC AR EEY BEEEEERECEX
H i K At

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 4 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HERBESRN GRS MAME2 4 k25-

Our procedures, among others, included:
EERTZIRFBE(HPaE)

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent professional valuer;

HER ERD 28 - BRI RFEIME

assessing and evaluating the appropriateness of
the valuation methodology, and the reasonableness
on the key inputs and assumptions used by the
independent professional valuer and agreed by the
management of the Group including the discount
rate and share price;

A RFHERERERDAHE - Rilh BEEH
BUHEGERMAAREEEMRAZEZEREA
B (BREERERRE) RBERNSEBIZE

evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
independent professional valuer in relation to the
fluctuation on the discount rate and share price of
the Company’s shares; and
EBCHEEMEMBERER ERRRGOZ
RERBAE I BREST &

assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure
made in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in relation to the convertible notes.
T BEEER BEERGESMBEmEPIRAR
BRERELOBREET M -

CEREEXEBERAT s 2 FFERS
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT HR S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis
of accounting by the directors of the Company and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: P05510
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

2022 2021

—EC-CH T

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

BizE AR¥ETR AREFT

Revenue Wz 8 175,923 67,608
Cost of sales and services rendered $HE RIRH AR 2 AR (84,248) (27,053)
Gross profit E7 91,675 40,555
Other income and other gain H A R E A0 Wz 9 359 777
Distribution costs D EEMR AR (1,602) (638)
Administrative and other operating expenses  1TH & H ith i@ £ 5% (17,512) (14,197
Write-off of inventories FEME (164) (109)

Reversal of (Provision for) impairment loss 2 5 JE U R I8 7 (B 5 18 78 )

on trade receivables, net () 55 19 807 (888)
Impairment loss on finance lease BMEHERKGERERRE

receivables 20 (4,135) -
Reversal of impairment loss on H Aty e R IE R A S 1R

other receivables 1,753 -
Equity-settled share-based payment IARERS B DARR 1D A EL T
expenses ZHFAZ 31 (9,722) -
Changes in fair value of convertible notes 57 AR A FE AB%E
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL 7 & &8 EH) A[# AL
EERECNTEED 25 (1,412) -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAREIE 37 (2,484) -
Finance costs BATE AR AR 10 (1,792) -
Profit before income tax BB B AR R 10 55,771 25,500
Income tax expenses PSR 12 (20,574) (8,625)
Profit for the year FEREF 35,197 16,875
Profit for the year attributable to: THATEEFRER :
Owners of the Company VAUNCIE Z=DN 29,217 9,025
Non-controlling interests FEERER 36 5,980 7,850
35,197 16,875
Earnings per share BREF 14
Basic (RMB cents) ER(ARES) 0.95 0.29
Diluted (RMB cents) #wE(ARES) 0.89 0.29

—EREEXEEARLNF

RO CEFERE



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

AEEsRkEMZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BiE ARETT AREFIT
Profit for the year FRER 35,197 16,875
Other comprehensive (expenses) Hih 2w (Bk) Wz -
income:
Items that may be reclassified BEEEEN D EE R
subsequently to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences on translation of {2 & &GN ~ [ 5 =%
foreign operations (1,158) 1,151
Release of translation reserve upon H B B N B R R B 35 R4
disposal of subsidiaries 37 (847) -
Total other comprehensive Hith2mE (B WHBE
(expenses) income (2,005) 1,151
Total comprehensive income for FRAZHWRHEEE
the year 33,192 18,026
Total comprehensive income THATEEFRZEKE
for the year attributable to: L
Owners of the Company VNI PN 27,212 10,176
Non-controlling interests IR A 36 5,980 7,850
33,192 18,026

56 Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ® Annual Report 2022



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e

B EEIR R AR

At 31 December 2022 W=-ZE=—=—&F+=HA=+—H

Note
B aE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment E N 15
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16
Intangible assets mAE 17
Finance lease receivables RYE TR & R GRE 20
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18
Trade and other receivables B 5 FEMURIE N B FE WK IE 19
Tax recoverable AU 1 7 TE
Finance lease receivables & & R IE 20
Financial assets at FVPL BATEFABRZSREE 21
Cash and cash equivalents RERRSFEY 22
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 FERTRIE [ B At FE T RIE 23
Interest-bearing borrowings SHEER 24
Lease liabilities HEaE 16
Convertible notes designated as BE AL AT BT AEBRZ

financial liabilities at FVPL TRIEEN T RRER 25
Tax payables FERIBRIE
NET CURRENT ASSETS BRBEE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBERE

LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBAE
Lease liabilities HEEE 16
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIAEE 26
NET ASSETS FEE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRHE
Share capital &N 27
Reserves ]
Equity attributable to owners of RATNEE ANEILER

the Company
Non-controlling interests IEPER I S 36
TOTAL EQUITY R

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 138 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and signed
on its behalf by

Yuan Chaoyang
REG
DIRECTOR
BF

—EREEXEEARAT .

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
7,590 8,854
5,589 4,403
4,419 6,383
9,788 102,730
27,386 122,370
438 3,654
12,674 55,498
30 97
322,257 112,820
195 501
21,839 16,297
357,433 188,867
45,490 79,516
4,653 -
270 -
65,089 -
11,084 10,579
126,586 90,095
230,847 98,772
258,233 221,142
1,055 -
1,101 1,591
2,156 1,591
256,077 219,551
29,742 28,601
215,847 170,470
245,589 199,071
10,488 20,480
256,077 219,551

EO5E1BBAMBAMBMREN T =
FoA=ZTHEESSHERRENE I

HIATALTRERRE

She Hao
£8
DIRECTOR
=

RO CEFERE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # &

At1 January 2021 RZZ=—F
-A-8
Profit for the year F R

Other comprehensive income: E 1 2 H 2
Item that may be reclassified B @ EH A
subsequently to profitorloss  F8#5 2B H

Exchange differences on BEBNEBZ
translation of foreign EXESR
operations

Total other comprehensive ~ E At 2 H 545
income

Total comprehensive income R 2 35 45
for the year

Transaction with owners: ~ EEBEARS :

Contributions and distributions & & 77l

Appropriation of statutory HEEERE
reserve

At 31 December 2021 R-B=-%F
+=-A=1+-H

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited e Annual Report 2022

- —F+ZA=+—HILFE
Reserves
CL
Share Statutory Non-
Share Share option Special surplus Translation ~ Accumulated Total controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses reserves interests equity
(Note 27)
(Wizzer)
EERS
R BiEE  EREREE AR e EREE 2itER e RS R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTT AR®TT ARETT ARETR ARBTT AR®TT ARETT ARETR AR%Tx
28,601 1,254,954 1,647 (10,416) 217 1,731 (1,087,899) 160,294 12,630 201,525
- - - - - - 9,025 9,025 7,850 16,875
- - - - - 1,151 - 1,151 - 1,151
- - - - - 1,151 - 1,151 - 1,151
- - - - - 1,151 9,025 10,176 7,850 18,026
- - - - 561 - (661) - - -
28,601 1,254,954 1,647 (10,416) 838 2,882 (1,079,435 170,470 20,480 219,561




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

Reserves
1]
Share Statutory Non-
Share Share option Special surplus  Translation Accumulated Total  controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses reserves interests equity
(Note 27)
(Krz£27)
EERHR
R& ROEE BRERS HRRIGRE 1] ERfE RitER BRE  FERER ot 5

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARRTE ARE®TR AR®TR ARMTRT ARMTR ARETR AR®TR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR

At 1 January 2022 i S
—-A-H
Profit for the year FRET]
Other comprehensive Hit2mMY
expenses:

Item that may be reclassified ~ E##EE# 7 EE
subsequently to profitor loss 1822

Exchange differences on BEBNEBZ
translation of foreign EREE
operations

Release of tranglation reserve  HEMTEA A
upon disposal of subsidiaries B TEHE K
(Note 37) (Hti237)

Total other comprehensive ~ E A2 HRI X 458
expenses

Total comprehensive income 4 iy 27 U 35 448
for the year

Transactions with owners:  SHEBEARS :
Contributions and distributions 4 & % 73k
Issue of shares upon exercise 1T B R HEFs

of share options (Note 27) BITRRIA (Mt 27)
Recognition of equity-settled TR AR A& Z 1A

share-based payment Bip%

expenses (Note 31) Fx (Hfzt31)
Dividends paid to T IR R A

non-controlling interests BRE

Appropriation of statutory BTG
reserve

Total transactions with owners %5 AR 5 85

At 31 December 2022 R®

28,601 1,254,954 1,647 (10,416) 838 2,882 (1,079435 170,470 20,480 219,551
- - = - = = 29,017 29,217 5,980 35,197

- - = - = (1,158) = (1,158) = (1,158)

= = = = = (847) = (847) = (847)

- - - - = (2,005) - (2,005) = (2,005)

- - - - = (2,005) 29,217 27,212 5,980 33,192
1,141 8,443 = = = = - 8,443 = 9,584
= = 9,722 = = = = 9,722 = 9,722

= = = - - - - - (15,972) (15,972)

= - - - 9,746 - (9,746) - - -
1141 8,443 9,722 - 9,746 - (9,746) 18,165 (15,972) 3334
29742 1,263,397 11,369 (10,416) 10,584 877 (1,059.964) 215847 10488 256,077

—EREEXEEARAT s B FERSE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n'l_\ é iﬁr ﬁ 5}2&: % '13«%

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Interest income
Finance costs
Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Write-off of inventories
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

Changes in fair value of financial asserts
at FVPL, net
Changes in fair value of convertible notes
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL
Impairment loss on finance lease receivables

Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables

(Reversal of) Provision for impairment loss
for trade receivables, net

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital
Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Finance lease receivables

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities
Interest received
Refund of deposits for acquisition of
plant and equipment
Proceeds from investment in bond
issued by a private company
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries

Net cash (used in) from investing activities

BE—F S+ A=+—HULFE

EETH2RLHE

BRELATEFI

ABTHIRERE

FlEMA

BEKAR

WME - BRE KRN
ME - BERRETE
FEREEENE

B AESRH

e
HEMNBARZERE
uwﬁﬁﬁu%@ﬁg%z

NEREZ

BAFERABRZ
SHEENNTFEZSEE
ETAEATFENABEZSE
BENTRREE ATES
BEHEREKRFBREESE
o MBI E S B AT
S EWFERERESE
(B B EEE

EEELHDARERERE

HEESED

75

B 5 0B A OB
5508 R A M 5B
RAREREIE

REFBAARE
ERAEHR

REEBAARE TR

REZHZHEERE
EWﬂg
REWBEERREZ 2

RENERRBRITZ R FETA
BEME BERRE

HERTBEZFREHR
HEMBRREENRSRHFE

REED (MA) MEREFHE
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- 28,507

37 (67) -
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Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares upon
exercise of share options

Inception of interest-bearing borrowings

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Payment for lease liabilities

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the reporting period
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the
reporting period, represented by
bank balances and cash

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 March 2006 and registered as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Cayman Companies Law”). Its shares were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 1 February 2007. The address of the registered office of
the Company is Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, P.O.
Box 31119, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is Unit 5, 7/F., Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the
nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”), which collective term includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group
is set out below.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is historical cost, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) and convertible notes designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL, which are stated at fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis
consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2021 consolidated
financial statements except for the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs
that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current financial
reporting period as detailed below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised

HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfiling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs  2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Beyond 30 June 2021

The amendments exempt lessees from having to consider individual
lease contracts to determine whether rent concessions occurring as a
direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic are lease modifications
and allow lessees to account for such rent concessions as if they were
not lease modifications. It applies to covid-19-related rent concessions
that reduce lease payments due on or before 30 June 2022. The
amendments do not affect lessors.

Amendments to HKAS 16: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments clarify the accounting requirements for proceeds
received by an entity from selling items produced while testing an item of
property, plant or equipment before it is used for its intended purpose.
An entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and the
cost of those items, in profit or loss and measures the cost of those
items applying the measurement requirements of HKAS 2.

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a
contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (for example, direct labour and materials) and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in 2018. The amendments
also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its requirement for an entity to
refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for some types of
liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
instead refer to HKAS 37. The exception has been added to avoid an
unintended consequence of updating the reference.

Annual Improvements Project — 2018-2020 Cycle
HKFRS 1: Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter

This amendment simplifies the application of HKFRS 1 for a subsidiary
that becomes a first-time adopter of HKFRSs later than its parent — i.e.
if a subsidiary adopts HKFRSs later than its parent and applies HKFRS
1.D16(a), then a subsidiary may elect to measure cumulative translation
differences for all foreign operations at amounts included in the
consolidated financial statements of the parent, based on the parent’s
date of transition to HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for Derecognition of
Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the purpose of performing the “10
per cent test” for derecognition of financial liabilities — in determining
those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes only fees paid
or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of payments from the lessor
relating to leasehold improvements. As currently drafted, Example 13 is
not clear as to why such payments are not a lease incentive.

HKAS 41: Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

This amendment removes the requirement to exclude cash flows for

taxation when measuring fair value, thereby aligning the fair value
measurement requirements in HKAS 41 with those in HKFRS 13.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements
of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from equity holders
of the Company, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially
either at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interests

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest determined at the date when control is lost and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis
as would be required if the holding company had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former
subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are
accounted for as a financial asset or liability, an associate, a joint venture
or others, as appropriate, from the date when control is lost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the
goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest in the
subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income (for example,
equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income),
the amount that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised on the same basis as would be required if the previously held
equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of
goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at
the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition
date.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether
it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented
within these notes, interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss. The carrying amounts of the interests are reduced to
their respective recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher
than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, over their estimated
useful lives at the annual rate as set out below from the date on which
they are available for use and after taking into account their estimated
residual values, using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Buildings 3.33% or over the unexpired
term of lease, if shorter

Leasehold improvements 10% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment  10% to 20%

Motor vehicles 20%
Plant and machinery 10% to 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when there is any
indication that intangible assets has suffered an impairment loss.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Derecognition of other intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the assets, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments and on
a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s
contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial asset expire or
(i) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset,
or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant
financing component) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the
case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade
receivables are initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at
amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“Mandatory FVOCI”); (iii) equity investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“Designated FVOCI"); or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets
are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the
Group changes its business model for managing them, in which case all
affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual
reporting period following the change in the business model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

M

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of
the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses arising from impairment, derecognition or
through the amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include finance
lease receivables, trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents.

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL, financial assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies
and financial assets that are otherwise required to be measured at
FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and
loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or
interest income is presented separately from fair value gain or
loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:
0] acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

(ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL
only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses
on them on different bases.

The Group’s financial assets designated at FVPL include listed
and unlisted equity securities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is
extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the
case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are
direct attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings and convertible notes designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL. All financial liabilities, except for financial liabilities at
FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for trading,
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL and
financial liabilities that are contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies. They are carried at fair
value, with any resultant gain and loss (excluding interest expenses)
recognised in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair value changes
of financial liabilities designated at FVPL that are attributable to the credit
risk of the liabilities which is presented in other comprehensive income
unless such treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near
term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are

managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a
designated and effective hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL only if:

(i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses
on them on different bases;

(i) they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets
and financial liabilities that are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy; or

(iif) they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which case
the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a financial liability
at FVPL, except where the embedded derivatives do not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of
the embedded derivatives is prohibited.

The convertible notes issued by the Group (including related embedded
derivative) are designated as financial liabilities at FVPL on initial
recognition. Subsequent to the initial recognition, the entire convertible
notes are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for the changes in
fair value attributable to the changes of the credit risk of the liabilities.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis other than
financial liabilities classified as at FVPL.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that is not an
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate derivatives
when they meet the definition of a derivative, their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host, and
the hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (‘ECL”)
on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost issued to which
the impairment requirements apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except
for the specific treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a
financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present
value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference
between the contractual cash flows that are due to an entity under the
contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument while 12-month
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on the following one or more shared credit risk
characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(iii) industry of debtors

(iv)  geographical location of debtors

(v) external credit risk ratings where available

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes
in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since initial recognition.
The resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised as an

impairment gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for
internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets any of the following
criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In particular, the
following information is taken into account in the assessment:

o the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on
the due dates;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

o actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the
Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, except for the receivables for which the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that
previous non-payments were an administrative oversight, instead of
resulting from financial difficulty of the borrower, or that there is no
correlation between significant increases in the risk of a default occurring
and financial assets on which payments are more than 30 days past
due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Cash and cash equivalent are determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables without significant financing components, the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date and has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount
that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy of writing
off the gross carrying amount based on historical experience of
recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects no significant recovery
from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off
could still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal
advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts, if any.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost,
which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable, costs of
conversion and other costs that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition, is calculated using the
weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period of the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services
The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as follows:

(@)
(b)

Sales of pharmaceutical products; and

Rendering of genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services.

|dentification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as a performance
obligation each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(@

(®)

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the
following criteria are met:

(@)

the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its
own or together with other resources that are readily available to
the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct);
and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the
contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct
within the context of the contract).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a
customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains
control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue
over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced; or

() the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies
the performance obligation at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control
occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators
as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sales of pharmaceutical products are recognised at a point in time at
which the customer obtains the control of the promised asset, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and title
has been passed.

Rendering of genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services is
recognised over time when the services are rendered. A receivable is
recognised by the Group when the services are rendered to the
customers at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional,
as only the passage of time is required before payment is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources
Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-

impaired financial assets.

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”) and majority of its subsidiaries
used RMB as their functional currency, except for the subsidiaries
operated in Hong Kong and adopted Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) as their
functional currency. The consolidated financial statements are presented

in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are

recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the Group’s entities that have a
functional currency different from the presentation currency (“foreign

operations”) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

° Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented, are translated at the closing rate at the end of the

reporting period.

o Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are translated at the average

exchange rates.

. All resulting exchange differences arising from the above
translation and exchange differences arising from a monetary item
that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign

operation are recognised as a separate component of equity.

o On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal
involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to the
foreign operation that is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the separate component of equity is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or loss on

disposal is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

° On the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation which does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences recognised in the
separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-
controlling interests in that foreign operation and are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

o On all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of
associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in the
separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and
external sources of information to assess whether there is any indication
that its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets and the Company’s investments in subsidiaries may be impaired
or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash
flows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying amount of the
asset or cash-generating unit that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversal of impairment
losses is recognised as an income in profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the
temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the
amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures for which a provision
has been recognised are charged against the related provision in the
year in which the expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the
amount provided is the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. Where the Group expects a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account/recognised as a deduction from
the carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at
inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and
low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated with these leases
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract
as a lease separately. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate
component are considered to be part of the total consideration that is
allocated to the separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the
commencement date of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d)  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses and
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is
provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of
the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the
Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset) at the
annual rate as follows:

Land use rights 2% to 10%
Leased properties 20%

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise the following payments for the right to use the underlying asset

during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;
(©) amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;
(d)  exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably

certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the incremental borrowing
rate of the lessee.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there
are changes to the lease payments arising from a change in the lease
term or the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when
there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the in-substance fixed
lease payments or the future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a change
in future lease payments resulting from a change in floating interest
rates, the Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount
rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further
reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises
any remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, at
the effective date of the lease modification,

(@  the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract on
the basis of relative stand-alone price as described above;

(b)  the Group determines the lease term of the modified contract;

(©) the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate over the revised
lease term;

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the
Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liability by
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect
the partial or full termination of the lease and recognising any gain
or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit
or loss; and

()  for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for the
remeasurement of the lease liability by making a corresponding
adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease or an
operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease
and sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is classified as an
operating lease if the head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group has applied the recognition exemption. Otherwise, the sublease
is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract
as a lease separately from non-lease components of the contract. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

As lessor — finance lease

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect
a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases. The Group applies the
derecognition and impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to the net
investment in the finance lease.

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a separate
lease if both:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a modification to a finance lease that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group accounts for the modification as follows:

(@) if the lease would have been classified as an operating lease had
the modification been in effect at the inception date, the Group:

(i) accounts for the lease modification as a new lease from the

effective date of the modification; and

(ii) measures the carrying amount of the underlying asset as
the net investment in the lease immediately before the
effective date of the lease modification.

(b)  otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 9.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated
services are rendered by employees.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement
scheme are recognised as expenses in profit or loss as incurred and are
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior the contributions are vested fully in those employees. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including the directors, receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby the employees
rendered services in exchange for shares or rights over shares. The cost
of such transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The fair value is
determined using the binomial model, taking into account any market
conditions and non-vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the vesting
conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which the entitlement
of relevant employees to the award is no longer conditional on the
satisfaction of any non-market vesting conditions (“vesting date”).
During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected
to vest ultimately is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for the
year of review, with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within
equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits/losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period
as adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowed. It is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, any deferred tax arises from initial
recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is recovered or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on interest in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported in
the financial statements are identified from the consolidated financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group:

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

M
(i)

)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of the holding company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

U

(i)

(i

(v)

(vi)

(vii

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each holding company, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the holding company of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the Group and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of
the associate and a joint venture includes subsidiaries of the joint
venture.

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued the following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies '

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates '
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction '
Insurance Contract '

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative

Information '

A ISR M EE

BE—_T_—F+_A=+—HILHFE
FESETBCR (&)
BE AL (&)

EBNLHEZNRER B IFEEAR
SEETRSNBIEP R EVEZS
ATHEZEZEORENKE @ B4

@ ZALTHTFEMEEREEH
fa

b ZALTHEERRAEHBENTF
iR

© FZATHHEBKFREFENE
W|EA -

=

ERBATHEET  BE AR
BARMMBAT  AELEEESH
CENHHBAR -

il

BEBMBHMEE 2 RREB
REEAUBRRERETIRRE B8
BETEI AR T WM T I M ANAFEE
MR AHERT BB B E LR -
AR B W ARIE P IR ZFLER o

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current ?
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants ?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture ®

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

N The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the adoption of the
new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material impact on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are
made by the Group’s management in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the
Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an
on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period of revision and future periods, in
case the revision also affects future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The estimates are
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment, right-of use assets and intangible assets of similar
nature and functions. The Group’s management will increase the
depreciation and/or amortisation charges where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives. It will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic
review could result in a change in useful lives and therefore affect the
related depreciation and/or amortisation charges in future periods.

Allowance for impairment loss

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for financial
assets at amortised costs including, trade and other receivables and
finance lease receivables, by using various inputs and assumptions
including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The estimation involves
high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical
information, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of trade and other receivables and finance lease
receivables.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ® Annual Report 2022

4.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

CES-athses] |
RiRJEA M BMKRE - AEEEEE
TEH B RIAR 2 fh 5t R R A e FIEf -
EPBNAKESHBEZER &
EBfE WARRXZHRESE A
NFAER 2 B EE - EERERE - A
KaRARRRSER  BRERYBER
BRBATEBEEZARER LAY -
RBEBRT  Grtthst 2 BRI EE
71 HAfE MoK R EARE (i B RS R TR 2
RAFHE) T IARER

flat FREM 2 EERR

¥ BERREURELEENT
A FH

AEBEREETEDE  BERRE
AR B EENGF AR - 56
EEDEREBLEE RN -
BB Kkt - (EREEENRBIVEE
MERAERFHBELREH - &
AERERPRENGIFRT » A
EERESEMTE RSB -
HL 4 5 s OB B 15 22 A Bk B MR AlD
PRESCERIIMEEE - BIREEF A
BeELfE A IR - fE Bim st Al
EEEUBAERFHEZY  AmFEx
REEMERITER RBHE -

HEE R
REEERE AR ARERER
(BfEEQRER&IBHEBELX) fatz
BEKATEZEREE (BRESE
WoRIE B B A W IR A R R B TR B e
WkIA) Z B R EE - BRERHAR S
Bl ZBEER  RITMREREREHS
RZAENGEAREE  XFRBED
EEE - MR ERAR G TR - ZF
ERBFEE HRUGR K H (b UK
ERBEEERBGIEMNEREE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

Fair value measurement of convertible notes

The Group’s convertible notes are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The management of the Group determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurement.

In estimating the fair value of liabilities, the Group uses market
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not
available, the Group engages independent professional valuer to perform
the valuation. The management of the Group work closely with the
independent professional valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of financial instruments. Changes in subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of financial assets
at FVPL, cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing borrowings,
convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at FVPL and lease
liabilities. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and
maintain finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial instruments such as trade and other receivables, finance
lease receivables, and trade and other payables, which arise directly
from its business activities.

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to
the line items below:

Assets EE
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Financial assets at FVPL
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong
Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong

Financial assets at amortised cost
Finance lease receivables

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at FVPL

Convertible notes designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings

Lease liabilities
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332,045 215,550
11,885 41,219
21,839 16,297
365,769 273,066
65,089 -
42,150 70,571
4,653 -
1,325 -
48,128 70,571

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and price risk.
The Group generally adopts conservative strategies on the Group’s risk
management and limits the Group’s exposure to these risks to a
minimum. The management of the Group reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. The
Group also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial
instruments.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Interest rate risk

Except for the convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at FVPL
of which the relevant interest rate risk exposure had been included in the
price risk analysis below, the Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances carried at prevailing market rate. The
Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. The Group has not formulated a policy to manage the
interest rate risk as the management do not expect the interest rate for
bank deposits would be significantly changed in the next 12 months
from 31 December 2022.

Foreign currency risk

Except for the convertible note designated as financial liabilities at FVPL
which are denominated in HK$ of which the relevant foreign currency
risk exposure had been included in the price risk analysis below, the
Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated
in the functional currencies of the Group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables and finance lease receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets at
amortised cost.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by credit-rating agencies.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as
approximately 60% (2021: 53%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest trade debtor and approximately 86% (2021
96%) of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
trade debtors.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as
approximately 14% (2021: 22%) of the total finance lease receivables
was due from the Group’s largest finance lease debtor and
approximately 54% (2021: 89%) of the total finance lease receivables
was due from the Group’s five largest finance lease debtors.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated its finance team
to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to categorise
exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The finance team
uses publicly available financial information and the Group’s own
historical repayment records to rate its major customers and debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are
continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions
concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:
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BB EREE (&)

EEER ()
A EMB T EARTRIERBENT

Basis for recognising
expected credit loss

Category Description (“ECL”)
BRAANEEESE
<Vl i g (THHEEBRDNEE
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past- 12 months ECL
due amounts for other receivables and finance lease receivables
R#f PR E A EYKIBA LB ERERYWIAM S - HFHENRRIFRE 1288 BHEEEE
R 3 & A A R0E
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition Lifetime ECL
for trade and other receivables and finance lease receivables — not credit-impaired
A &R FRE 5 REMERFIEARREEERKFIENS - BYIRERAKR 2HEREEERE
EER R REEEL N — EEERE
In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired for trade and Lifetime ECL
other receivables and finance lease receivables — credit impaired
B HRE S REMEWFEARRERERKIANS - EEBRPEE 2 HHEMEERBE
BHBRERERE — BHREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty Amount is written off

and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery for trade and other

receivables and finance lease receivables

i SN E 5 M AR YGRIAA R BB & G IET &
ABABREMBRHE - A AREEULEIRIFERN TSP

Credit risk

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. For finance
lease receivables, the Group has applied the general approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these
items by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit
loss experience based on the past default experience of the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables and finance lease receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics.

Other receivables

The Group considers that the other receivables have low credit risk
based on the borrowers’ strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default. No impairment
on the other receivables is recognised based on the measurement on
12-month ECL.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. HBRABRERE(H)
Liquidity risk RENE S R
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity AEBROBR AT HE RS R RFEHR
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to FELENR  BREETENREHE
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The Group NEMEE LR REE S F K - &N
finances its working capital requirements mainly by the funds generated EEFTEUEBEEMELERINTIRE
from operations and external financing. FEEeBNHEEEESTRK -
The Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based R EHIR AR EBIRIEA L ARIIRAR
on contractual undiscounted payments are summarised below: NEmeEgmnT :
Total
Total contractual Less than
carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow on demand 1-2 years 2-5years
BENAEE  SR-F49
FEAE HeRELE REX -EZf§ —Ehf
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFTT ARBTTL ARBETFT
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-—F
+=A=+-A
Trade and other payables BHRNFER
HiERFUR 42,150 42,150 42,150 - -
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 4,653 4,778 4,778 - -
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,325 1,475 328 328 819
Convertible notes designated BT ARATEN ARG
as financial liabilities at FVPL e REBNRREE 65,089 63,881 63,881 - -
113,217 112,284 111,137 328 819
At 31 December 2021 R-B=-%
+=ZA=+-H
Trade and other payables BHREMTER
EhJE(T50R 70,571 70,571 70,571 - -
Price risk ERER

The Group was required to estimate the fair value of the convertible
notes issued by the Company (Note 25) at the end of the reporting
period with changes in fair value to be recognised in the profit or loss.
The fair value adjustment of the convertible notes as measured in RMB
would be affected either positively or negatively, amongst others, by the
changes in the Company’s share market price, the exchange rate
between HK$ and RMB and market interest rate.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to the price risk of convertible notes at the reporting date only.
The stated changes represented the management’s assessment of
reasonable possible changes in fair value of the convertible notes in the
next 12 months from 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2022, if the fair value of the convertible notes has been
10% higher/lower due to the change in the Company’s share price, the
exchange rate between HK$ and RMB and/or market interest rate, the
Group’s pre-tax results would decrease/increase by approximately
RMB6,509,000.

REBEARBEHREF A AT HITH
AR REN A FEE25) - B
RTEZHPRERETER - UARER
ENTHMERENATEAEEZE
(B 8B ARFREZS - BTiA
REEXREMSHEEHWIEHKAR

B 488
A -

HEE DT

AT SR E T ERIEIRE B Hi A AR
ZEMERRBRBROETE - Fri s
xEEBYWA-_TE-—F+-A=+—
A#eAR121E B AR 2R ZE A FE
AEAREE BT

R —F+-A=+—H o
BEBEHAFERRQGRE BT
AREBERR S mEFREsMm
T/ T B 10% - ANEBE TR EE R
LB hN4 A R # 6,509,000 7T
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following presents the assets and
liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in
these financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of
the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement,
with the fair value measurement categorised in its entirety based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels
of inputs are defined as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

AFEFE
ANEEATBEL2HEERSGEBHERF
RGP HEGER LN SEREAE
BES AT 2 (B o TN 2IIEAFEHE
AR ET SRR P IRICEEEER
BRBMBERELERE 135 [ AFERT
ERATATEEL -EERFEER
FTEZEERBE EPSREYBHER
FEAEEEAFEZREBABRE
BBEAFEFENE HABHZER
REMWMT -

. E-ERBABE(RSR) - &
SENAERRRGZHEREE
FEBENERT S ZRE(CRE

FE) o
. Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 . E_EBREAZBE: REEXA
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or BEESEEABRR 28 A S
indirectly. (B—ERBEZHRERIN) -
. Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. . FoEREASE(ZER) - &

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

o

ERREZ TR EEEABUR
BAREFENESHEERER

Fair value measurements

Recurring fair value measurement
Assets
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong

Liabilities
Convertible notes designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL
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BEMAVETE
EE
EE ETRAES
=N

BERRRTEH ARG
SRERNTARRER

At 31 December 2022 using
R-B--F+=-A=+-H

FRAMNHERR :
Quoted prices
in active
market for Significant

Fair value at identified other Significant
31 December underlying observable unobservable
2022 items inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

R-B=ZF 25
T=A HEEE BERHA BX
=+-H WERT S ARE I 28
ZAYE HERE BABE BABE
(B—4%) (B=#&) (B=#H)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR ARBTR
195 195 - -
65,089 - - 65,089
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 6. AFEFTEE
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value RAFEFENESREERARE(HA)
(Continued)
Fair value measurements
At 31 December 2021 using
RZF-Z—F+ZA=1—H
FTARATEER :
Quoted prices
in active
market for Significant
Fair value at identified other Significant
31 December underlying observable  unobservable
2021 items inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
R-B=-—%F 2l
T=A 1R BREM E-UN
=+—H RERT S BIf % FAER
ZATHE H3R{E BABE BAHE
(=) (B=8) (B=8)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFT
Recurring fair value measurement REMATENE
Assets EE
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong B FHRARES 419 419 - -
Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong &3 FiilR A B 5 82 - 82 -

Details of valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements of convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at
FVPL are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements:

IEERZEAFE ARG Z SEAEN
AIARE IR NP ET B ARG ETA
Rt NBUR ) I BN R & M Bk Y
25 °

F=BRATEFEZEHE:

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT

At beginning of the reporting period ¥R E E Y = -
Issue of convertible notes BITAIHRER 63,677 -
Changes in fair value NTEZE) 1,412 -
At end of the reporting period REREHIR 65,089 -

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure, but not
measured at fair value

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at amounts
not materially different from their fair values at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

HE-_Z-_—_Fr=-_F=-_—F+=-A
—t—HIEFE  FEREFE_ER
ZEWEEYR  NEESARBENE=E
B AEBZBRARRERRAFEE
[E 4% 8% LE BB B T DARERR ©

AREATFEELEFERAFETEZ
BEEREE

RZEZZFR-_ZT=_—F+=A
=t+—B FAEEMEREERSRA
ENEEEAEE QA FETESEKER -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by
business lines. In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the executive directors of the Company, being
identified as the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM?”), for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented the following three reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

(i) Pharmaceutical products segment: development, manufacturing,
marketing and sales of pharmaceutical products, sales of
pharmaceutical related software and provision of consultancy
services;

(i) Finance leasing segment: provision of finance leasing services;
and

(i)  Genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services segment:
provision of genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the CODM monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the following
bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current assets
with the exception of financial assets at FVPL and other corporate
assets. Segment liabilities include trade and certain other payables
attributable to the activities of the individual segments. Convertible notes
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL and other liabilities are not
allocated to operating segments as these liabilities are managed on a
corporate basis.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment results is adjusted earnings
before interest, income tax, depreciation and amortisation (“Adjusted
EBITDA”), where “interest” includes interest income from bank deposits
and finance costs and “depreciation and amortisation” includes
depreciation/amortisation of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets. To arrive at adjusted eamings, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed to
individual segments, such as remuneration of the Company’s directors
and auditor and other head office or corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted profit
or loss, the CODM is provided with segment information concerning
revenue, interest income, depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses,
finance costs and additions to non-current assets used by segments in
their operations.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
is set out below.

7 EPER ()

DHEE  EEREEE)

2®mH PO G PR RS M IRRM
FE2FR Tl R AR SR Bl Y R RTEGR AR ©

HE-_Z-—_FR-_F=-_—F+=A
=+—BLFE BEEAEENZ2®RS
H2EREHIWT  ZEERTRET
FTEEERREUDBRE R LT EDT
R o

2022 —E=-=
Genetic testing
and molecular
Pharmaceutical Finance diagnostic
products leasing services Total
HEE®ARD T
BEEM MERE EUDHRE @st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®T ARBTT
Reportable segment revenue RENFEE 2T 2 ;K
from external customers 2k 152,654 14,819 8,450 175,923
Reportable segment profit AEHRFEF
(Adjusted EBITDA) (#RFAEEBITDA) 70,896 9,631 3,191 83,718
Reportable segment assets AERIBEE 39,454 336,855 5,616 381,925
Reportable segment liabilities AEHIHEE 19,269 11,199 4,678 35,146
Other segment information (Note): E 45 E& 8 (#F) :
Interest income FBUA 52 13 - 65
Finance costs B RK A (28) = = (28)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (3,249) ®) (249) (3,501)
Write-off of inventories FEMH (164) - - (164)
Impairment loss on finance BEHERGERERE
lease receivables - (4,135) - (4,135)
Reversal of (Provision for) impairment & 5 el 18R 6 18
loss on trade receivables, net ol (BfE) 5 858 - (51) 807
Reversal of impairment loss on Hih IR R BB T
other receivables 1,753 - - 1,753
Addition to non-current assets REFRDEE - - 27 27
CEREEXEERRAR e S _FFERSE
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER (M)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) TEHEE  BEREE(E)
2021 —E-—F
Genetic testing
and molecular
Pharmaceutical Finance diagnostic
products leasing services Total
ERBARA T
BEEEm MEHE  AVDERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Reportable segment revenue TEINFERE A28
from external customers AR5 53,815 9,301 4,492 67,608
Reportable segment profit A 2/H A
(Adjusted EBITDA) (%A% EBITDA) 29,469 9,137 193 38,799
Reportable segment assets 2R EEE 75,489 216,441 1,744 293,674
Reportable segment liabilities BEE L=l 46,726 9,792 3,101 59,619
Other segment information (Note): R BER (Hat) -
Interest income % 'J EH&U\ 4 82 - 86
Depreciation and amortisation mEREH (3,286) ©) (228) (3,517)
Write-off of inventories FEMH (109) - - (109)
Impairment loss on trade receivables, & 5 B FIBRIEE 1855
net (888) - - (888)
Addition to non-current assets REIFTBEE 73 - - 73

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no significant inter-segment sales during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Note:
Any difference between the total amounts set out in the above segment information and

the amounts reported elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements represented the
unallocated portion for the corporate office.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, result, assets

and liabilities

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue from
external customers

Total reportable segment profit
(Adjusted EBITDA)
Other income
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Finance costs
Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses
— staff costs (including directors’
emoluments but excluding
equity-settled share-based
payment expenses)
— equity-settled share-based
payment expenses
— change in fair value of convertible
notes designated financial liabilities
at FVPL
— others

Consolidated profit before income tax

Lé
KESNEBEF Z A2

pon- 16

A 2R o 24 F

(4L EBITDA)
HApl A
U5 -
HEHBAREIE
B AR AR
AOMBPHEELAFFAZ

— BIRA(BREEHE
HENBIE AR A E A

7. SHERE)

Betn mER Z N

— AR A E ARG R
B SRR S
— EEREAFEF AER

CRABRNATRRERY

ATELD)
— Hp

RTS8 B AT AR & iR R

ME2RDIWE - £E  -BERERE
¥
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
175,923 67,608
83,718 38,799
920 764
(3,524) (3,547)
(2,484) -
(1,792) -
(2,508) (2,575)
(9,722) -
Z
(1,412) -
(6,595) (7,941)
55,771 25,500

—EREEXEEARAT .

RO CEFERE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, result, assets

and liabilities (Continued)

Reportable segment assets

Financial assets at FVPL

Unallocated head office and
corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Reportable segment liabilities

Convertible notes designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL

Deferred tax liabilities

Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

AERDABEE
BAVERARGZEMERE
AROBEMER L RREE

REREE

A2EHBAM

R BIRATEH AR
SEARNTRBRER
AR
ARAMAHBER AR

REBAaE
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DEER (E)
A2/a P - -EEREE
2R (&)
2022 2021
—E-C& T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®ET T
381,925 293,674
195 501
2,699 17,062
384,819 311,237
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
35,146 59,619
65,089 -
1,101 1,591
27,406 30,476
128,742 91,686
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographic Information

Revenue from external customers

The following sets out information about the geographical location of the
Group’s revenue from external customers, based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods delivered.

The PRC s
Hong Kong B

Non-current assets

No non-current assets information is presented for the Group’s
geographical location, as over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets
are located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers (including entities under common control)
individually accounting for 10% or more of total revenue of the Group
during the reporting periods are as follows:

From pharmaceutical products segment: 38 (B $5E B8 B 0 30 -
Customer A BEA
Customer B ZFB

7. DHERE)
hEER
KEIBES Z WK
TR BAREBREBINPRF 2
MR R 2 Bk o BPFTITHE 1%
REREERTEMEE D -

2022 2021

—E-CF —E—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREET T

167,473 63,116

8,450 4,492

175,923 67,608
HRBEE

AEEVEZIBHIERDEER R
B AASEBBIO%HNIFREDE
ERIRHE -

BFEXEEFZEHR
RIREHA - {EBME AN R B ARM A 10%
FALEMEF (BREARES THER

E3p N
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
37,741 20,947
19,091 13,397
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8.

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the development, manufacturing,
marketing and sales of pharmaceutical products, provision of finance
leasing services and provision of genetic testing and molecular
diagnostic services.

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during
the reporting periods are as follows:

Wy 5

AEENTIEERH AR  BE - 5
HEMHEEEER  RHEBEBEER
oA R pe B IR B oy F A W 2 A AR
& o

WEHAER 2 ZEERR 2RSS
o

2022 2021
—E-—F = —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Revenue from contracts with ERMBREENE15HERA
customers within HKFRS 15 REEFEHZWE
— At a point in time — RE—EEE
Sales of pharmaceutical products HEBEER 152,654 53,815
— Over time — BERFRE
Provision of genetic services and REERBRR LD TED
molecular diagnostic services P IR 8,450 4,492
161,104 58,307
Revenue from other sources REHEMRIFZ W=
Finance leasing interest income ERERER B A 14,819 9,301
175,923 67,608

For sales of pharmaceutical products, revenue is recognised when
control of goods has transferred, being when the goods have been
accepted by customers (acceptance) after goods delivered to the
specific location or picked up by customers. Following acceptance, the
customers have full discretion over the manner of distribution and price
to sell the goods, have the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bear the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods. The normal credit term is 30 to 180 days upon acceptance.

The Group provides genetic services and molecular diagnostic services
to the customers. Genetic services and molecular diagnostic services
income is recognised when the genetic services and molecular
diagnostic services are rendered and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the service.
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAIN, NET

Interest income HEA
Exchange gain, net B 54 W 25 7 28
Sales of raw materials RIMEHEEE
Sundry income IR A
Government subsidies (Note) BB (FI7E)

Note:

In the opinion of the management of the Group, there were no unfulfiled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

g

H W A R H ks 558
2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
79 712
- 52
134 -
2 13
144 -
359 77

Bt EE

AEBERERR  ZSHBTEERARERE

ek sk REEIR

REEXEEBRLDF o

RO CEFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE —

St e = e F =25

=

10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BRPTBHANEF
Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging: FRFTS AR A2 HBRIATIER -
2022 2021
—E_C& —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT T ARBT T
Finance costs B 75 R A
Interest on convertible notes ARREEFNE 1,660 -
Interest on other borrowings HifEER S 104 -
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBEZREER 28 -
1,792 -
Staff costs BIMA
Directors’ emoluments (Note 117) EEFM(MEE11) 5,572 1,382
Other staff costs HAith B TR
— Salaries, wages, allowances, bonus — e I&- M4
and benéfits in kind KEWREF 6,594 7,876
— Contributions to defined contribution — ERMFRIRET S22 #E3R
retirement plan 642 727
— Equity-settled share-based payment — DR EE ARG BER
expenses R FAX 5,644 -
18,452 9,985
2022 2021
—E-= T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Other items Hib1EH
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - & MR EITE 1,285 1,454
Amortisation of intangible assets (included in £ & A (5H A [84E
“Cost of sales and services rendered”) RRERE KA ) 1,964 1,965
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRESENE 275 128
Changes in fair value of financial assets BAFEFAEBR EREAE
at FVPL, net AT EEEFE 252 -
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENEN &
—audit services — ZERB 1,377 1,328
—non-audit services — FRHRE 86 315
Expenses relating to short-term leases BHEANEEE 2 HAX 540 454
Write-off of property, plant and equipment Y12 ~ &= MK & & il S 31 -
Cost of inventories TFEKAK 82,134 25,243

Note:

GEX

Cost of inventories includes approximately RMB5,402,000 (2021: RMB7,170,000)
relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation which amount is also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above.

FERABEEETRA TERBIHEEBENLD
AR ¥540200t( = F = —F: ARK¥
7,170,0007T) * ZERIIEER EXEBHRER
BZEBRLESRE -

104
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL’S 11. EERIEREFALTZHME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments EEMS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong RIEE B R REFIZE383(1)EE AT (E
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of ENSEERB)ERE_POPEL
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows: EEFEY T -
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE—_TE-_—_F+-A=+—HLEE
Salaries,
wages, Contribution
allowances, to defined
bonus contribution ~ Equity-settled
and benefits  Discretionary retirement  share-based
Fees in kind bonus plan payment Total
e
1% 28 BEE  ERLE
AR HREHR URAAER
ne BNEA MiETA sTEIfER PAVE S @

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR

Executive directors HITESE

Chen Chengaing (Note a) BKE (Mita) 206 - - - - 206
Zhang Rongging REE 103 - - - 335 438
Gao Borui SiAk 206 - - - 279 485
Yuan Chaoyang 785 206 - - - 1,676 1,882
She Hao K2 206 - - - 1,229 1,435
Non-executive director FHTES

Xiu Yuan B 206 - - - 559 765

Independent non-executive B FHTES

directors
Zhu Yi Zhun KikiE 103 = = - - 103
Khor Khie Liem, Alex (Note b)  FFBEES (D) 155 - = = - 155
Zhang Ruigen (Note o) ik (Htc) 103 - = - - 103

1,494 - - - 4,078 5,572

CEREEXEBERAT s 2 FFERS
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e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

11.

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL’S 1. EBERAEESHFALIZHE (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) BEEME (E)
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_Z-_-F+=-A=t+—HILEE
Salaries,
wages, Contribution
allowances, to defined
bonus contribution  Equity-settled
and benefits  Discretionary retirement  share-based
Fees in kind bonus plan payment Total
e
I8 8- MEE  MERLE
AR BIGRIK MR BER
#we EWiEH [ilEprzan BEL PARE @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AREFTT ARBTn AREFR ARETT ARETn
Executive directors HITES
Chen Chenging (Note &) BRE (Hita) 199 - - - - 199
Zhang Rongaing REE 100 - - - - 100
Gao Borui SiRk 199 - - - - 199
Yuan Chaoyang =55 199 - - - - 199
She Hao ~2 199 - - - - 199
Non-executive director FYTES
Xiu Yuan B 199 - - _ _ 199
Independent non-executive BV ¥HTES
directors
Zhu Yi Zhun NG 100 - - - - 100
Khor Knie Liem, Alex (Note b)  §FEZES (Hfztb) 136 - - - - 136
Zhang Ruigen (Note ¢) Sk (#iitc) 51 - - - _ 51
1,382 - - - - 1,382

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the
directors of the Company or its holding company, or their connected
entities that were entered into or subsisted during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

After consideration, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Notes:

(@) Mr. Chen Chengqing had resigned as chairman of the Board of Directors on 17
June 2022.

(b) Mr. Khor Khie Liem, Alex was appointed as independent non-executive director

on 3 February 2021.

(c) Mr. Zhang Ruigen was appointed as independent non-executive director on 25
June 2021.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ® Annual Report 2022

BE_S-_—_#K_FT-_—F+_A
=t+—BIFE  SIEI L RFENR
NEIEEREITERES « B EHEER
BASHZANER  BUERSKEMR
% °

RRBIERLERERE  REEZT
T oFERZE—F+ZA=+—HL
FENEMAEERE - BEFEAQRRA
NEVEBEINY - MARRESTHEES
MERETFHEFEARZZEARS
RHEREHL °

Azt -

(@ BB AEN -T2 - —FXA+LRE
FEEEER -

) HEBEER-T-—F-A=pEZ
EABIIHITES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
None of the directors or agreed to waive any emoluments for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, included two (20217
two) directors of the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in Note
11 to the consolidated financial statements. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2021: three) individuals
were as follows:

e I& 28
EWEH
A 7E BR L BUR AT I 3R

Salaries, wages, allowances, bonus and TR
benefits in kind

Contribution to defined contribution
retirement plan

Equity-settled share-based payment

expenses

NS AR RER 2
NFFX

The emoluments of the three (20217: three) individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

Z % 1,000,000 # 7T
1,000,001 BT ZE
2,000,000% 7T

No emoluments was paid by the Group to the above individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
None of the above individuals waived or agree to waive any emoluments
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

11.

EERTEBRAFATZME (F)

EEMS (E)
BE-_Z-—F+-A=1+—-HLEE
(&)
REE-_ZT-_—_FR-_FT-_—F+=A
=t+—BLFE  AEEBRERTAE
EXMERNE - (EAEMAREESK
FEEMARE BB SEE) ok B Bl o
REBE_T__FRh=_T=_—F+=A1
“+—HIEFE BEEENEKRE
REEMBME -

EEREHAL

hEsEsHALh BE_R(-F
ZF ME)ARREE  REZH
EWBERGAMBMRMEENT - BT
ZHR(ZEZ—F =ZFH) NS4
BT

2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
= 1,743

= 64

3,352 -
3,352 1,807

—H(CE——F ZF)ReFALZ
BT T HI4E R

2022 2021
—E-C—HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
= 3

3 -

REE-_ZT-_—_FR-_FT-_—F+=A
=t+—BULFE  AEEBRESSERA
BT Eat AL - tEAEIMAREESK
FEEMARE BB SEE) ok B B o
REBE_T__FRk=_T=_—F+=A1
Z+—HIFE  BE A LTRES
BERETMANE -

CEREEXEBERAT s 2 FFERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Current tax EHHIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENEH
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) PRI EREE
(¥ ESR))
Deferred taxation (Note 26) IRERTE (M55 26)

For the PRC subsidiaries of the Group, PRC EIT is calculated at 25%
(2021: 25%) in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2022. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year ended
31 December 2021 as the Group utilised the tax losses brought forward
to offset against the assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Group
is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and profit before income tax
at applicable tax rates:

Profit before income tax

Notional tax on profit before tax, calculated
at the rates applicable in the countries
concerned

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of temporary differences
not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
not previously recognised

Others

Income tax expenses

B 1S 75 A g )

ZRRBR 2 ERHR R E
BRI A s F Y B SR IR

AR ERZ BB E
FEERRBMAZRIGTE

RERARBBH R UG E
AEREH B RBTE

&

B ST R R AR AR 1R
2 E
HAth

Fr S iR 3
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12. FifSHiBAxX
2022 2021
—E-C= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBT T
336 -
20,728 9,115
21,064 9,115
(490) (490)
20,574 8,625

RAEEPEMBEARME » PEGE
Fri8®i Ty R G BIAR B A 2 ROE R IR
25% ( —F = —14F : 25%) TR E -

ERNEHEEDRERE T -~
TZA=+— AL FE M ERBOE T
R165% MM EGHE - HME—T——F
T A=+ HIEFEREREENEG
BETiREE - REAXEENBHIELE
BEEUENBZE-_S=_—F+=A
=+ —BIIFEREEEEZERT G
F o

RERASHEZRARAD - NEEH
AHNERRSESMSH -

ZE ARG E MBI S R TS
Al A BRS¢

2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFIT
55,771 25,500
14,318 7,067
6,512 434
(249) (45)

95 1,347

8 31
(161) (209)

51 -

20,574 8,625




13.

14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to
the owners of the Company are based on the following data:

2022 2021
—E-C—HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Profit for the year attributable to the At HERERZAF
owners of the Company for the FrRARRHEA A
purpose of basic earnings per share FEAEEF A A 29,217 9,025
Change in fair value of convertible notes EEARATEFABRZ
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL SRIBENTRRERZ
N EEZS) 1,412 -
Interest on convertible notes AT R T B 1,660 -
Profit for the year attributable to the et EERESE R A
owners of the Company for the FrRAR AR A
purpose of diluted earnings per share FEASEF A 32,289 9,025
Number of shares BHOEE ’000 '000
T FI&
Weighted average number of ordinary METEEREKRZRF A
shares for the purpose of basic LB INE T
earnings per share 3,068,636 3,067,223
Effect of conversion of convertible notes BRI RER 2 R 540,394 -
Weighted average number of ordinary T ESREERRN A
shares for the purpose of diluted T F AR DN S35 BR
earings per share 3,609,030 3,067,223
The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the BE_T-__FR-F_—F1T=A

13. KRE

RRAFEFETEEREE

— = — —

=

FR

R+ -A=+—ALEFEERF

ERIARE

14. BRER

ARRFIEA ARG SRER LR

TYIRIBIA T IR E

=+—BLFE  HESREERNS
A BRAR M RATEE 2 BRI E - R
RATHBRENTEEBNARTZ
TR -

exercise of the outstanding share options since the exercise price per
share option was higher than the average share price of the Company
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE-—ZT—-—F+_-HA=+—HILFE

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

COST B
At 1 January 2021 RZE=Z—-%—-f—A
Additions NE
Exchange realignments LS
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+-Bk
“T--f-f-H
Additions NE
Written off ki
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) & Wi B A 7 (fi:57)
Exchange realignments RS
At 31 December 2022 R-8-—%
+ZB=t-H
ACCUMULATED RAFERAESR
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ-%-A-A
Charges %
Exchange realignments EH B

At 31 December 2021 and RZZ-—F

1 January 2022 TZA=+-BRk

—E--%#-f-H

Charges 53

Written off ik

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) €Mt B AR (#537)

Exchange realignments LS

At 31 December 2022 RZE-ZF
+=B=+-H

CARRYING AMOUNT BEE

At 31 December 2022 :%2 —E
+ZR=t-

At 31 December 2021 R-B-—%
+-A=+-H

15. 1%  BERRHE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor Plant and
Buildings improvements equipment vehicles machinery Total
%A
HE EERER
BT nEEE  BAZERE "E BERESR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT  ARBTT ARETT AREFR ARETx ARETR
6,175 1,273 460 9 4,794 12,711
- - 35 - 38 73
- - (20) - (44) (64)
6,175 1,273 475 9 4,788 12,720
- - 27 - - 27
- - 92) - - 92)
- - (33) - - (33)
- - 28 - 7 105
6,175 1,273 405 9 4,865 12,727
1,162 154 161 1 961 2,439
668 80 96 - 610 1,454
- - () - (18) (27)
1,830 234 248 1 1,553 3,866
499 80 84 - 622 1,285
- - 61) - - 61)
- - (17) - - (17)
- - 18 - 46 64
2,329 314 272 1 2,221 5,137
3,846 959 133 8 2,644 7,590
4,345 1,039 227 8 3,235 8,854
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

LEASES

Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Leasehold lands —HE L
— Lease properties —HEME
Lease liabilities HEEE

Current BN &R
Non-current JERNER

The Group leases various land use rights in the PRC. Lease agreements
are made for initial fixed periods of 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In addition, the Group leased a warehouse for its operation
during the year ended 31 December 2022. Lease of the warehouse has
initial lease term for 5 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the
movements during the years are as follows:

At 1 January 2021 RZZE-_—F—H—H
Depreciation charge WEZH

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 A-_ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—H

rZZFE-=—F—H—H

Additions NE
Depreciation charge WESH
At 31 December 2022 N-E-—F+=-A=+—82

16. HE
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
4,274 4,403
1,315 -
5,589 4,403
270 -
1,055 -
1,325 -
AEEHETRHZBETMERAE -HE
Wz UEEEFERE0F - HEK
FIRERIEEER - WEHAZETRIK
R o Eoh - AEBRBEZT
T+ A=FT—HLFEER M
BEEZERR - BEREMNVHF
RE5F - —MME  AEETAIKEE
BEEREODBETAREBEUIIAL
ERAEEE
AEEGEAREENRESERFENE
B
Leasehold Lease
lands properties Total
HELH HEYHE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT  ARBTT AREFIT
4,531 - 4,531
(128) (128)
4,403 - 4,403
- 1,461 1,461
(129) (146) (275)
4,274 1,315 5,589

CEREEXEBERAT s 2 FFERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16.

LEASES (Continued)
Lease liabilities

The present value of lease liabilities is summarised as below:

Amounts payable:
Within 1 year
More than 1 year but within 2 years
More than 2 years but within 5 years

Less: future finance charges

Total lease liabilities

16. HE (&)
HEAE
HEABZRERMNAT -
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
Present Present
value value
Lease of lease Lease of lease
payments payments payments payments
HEMNR HEAHBRE HENT BENFEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TR AR®ETT ARETR
FERI AR -
1ER 328 270 - -
BB1FER2FR 328 283 - -
BR2FERSFR 819 772 - -
1,475 1,325 - -
W RRIBL (150) - - -
HEE AT 1,325 1,325 - -

The operating lease expenses on short-term leases recognised in profit
or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB540,000 (2021: RMB454,000).

The total cash outflow for leases (excluding short-term leases) for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB164,000 (2021

Ni).
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BREE
Good
Manufacturing Other
Customer Practice intangible
Software relationship License asset Total
RIFEE Hit
B EFBR RERR EREE st
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Kfzta) (Hfztb) (Hizte)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT
COST B
At 1 January 2021 RZE=—F—HF—H 33 2,717 11,753 28,507 43,010
Disposals HE - - - (28,507) (28,507)
At 31 December 2021, RZE-—F
1 January 2022 and +=-A=+—-8"
31 December 2022 “T-_F-f-HR
—E--%+_R
=+—A 33 2,717 11,753 - 14,503
ACCUMULATED R BERRESE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—%—HF—H 10 2,717 3,428 - 6,155
Charges X 6 - 1,959 - 1,965
At 31 December 2021 and RZE-—F
1 January 2022 +-A=+-Hk
—T--%#-—f—-H 16 2,717 5,387 - 8,120
Charges X 5 - 1,959 - 1,964
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-Z&
+=ZA=+-8 21 2,717 7,346 - 10,084
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-Z&
+=A=t+-H 12 - 4,407 - 4,419
At 31 December 2021 RZZBZ—F
+ZA=1+—-H 17 - 6,366 - 6,383
CEREEEEEERAT e S _FFERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE —

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 17. BREE (8

Notes: Bzt -

(a) The customer relationship derived from acquisition of Zentrogene Bioscience (@ REFHERARBE_T—hE+=
Laboratory Limited during the year ended 31 December 2019 and is allocated to A =+ — B It % = ¥ # Zentrogene
genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services segment. The useful life of the Bioscience Laboratory Limited * i % B2
customer relationship is 6 years. EERBARD FEMDERE S E0 -

BERBENAEAFHREEF -
Provision for impairment loss were made in previous years in reducing the RHEBERHERNBEFERNUNER
carrying amount to be zero. HETEREE -

(o) The license represents the Good Manufacturing Practice license derived from (o) EREEE-_T—NAF+=-_A=+—8
acquisition of 1& sk FEL25R A & Fujian Yongchun Pharmaceutical Company HFEREREXERERSRAR(E
Limited* (“Fujian Yongchun”) during the year ended 31 December 2019 and is BAREANGSRIFEERSER XD
allocated to pharmaceutical products segment. The useful life of the license is 6 IREBEELDE - MRBAERAFESA
years. 6% °

() During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group acquired an intangible (© B2 N\F+=-_A=+—RHLHF
asset from an independent third party (the “Vendor”), which related to a right to B REBR—BEBLE=HEHF])
the economic returns on certain laundry shops in the PRC, at a consideration of WE—IBEBEE  SRYPEETHR
RMB28,507,000. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the useful life of RIENKERFERN  REBEAARK
this intangible asset is indefinite pursuant to the terms stipulated in the acquisition 28,507,0007C ° R AR EER A IRIK
agreement. WREBEATRRR  ZBLEERSE

PRATEFARGHA ©

Since the acquisition of the intangible assets and up to June 2021, due to the AUBEFEENRREE T -—4F
changes in market condition, the economic returns on most laundry shops in the NA BT B RE S K
PRC is unsatisfactory and that the progress on setting up new laundry shops in JEREEDRERRE - BEPBEBR
the PRC was far behind schedule. In accordance with the clause of the FORKEEREIREE RS - RigE
agreement with the Vendor, the management of the Group had requested for the BRI RS AEEEREESR
full refund from the Vendor. The amount of the above mentioned refund had been KEHEBER PHRRFENRZZ
settled in June 2021. ZFERNARE -

* English name is translated for identification purpose only. * X HEEFF

18. INVENTORIES 18. ®E
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Raw materials R 241 1,917
Finished goods BIRK 197 1,737
438 3,654

&= —wEgr— B = 4= It5EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

19. BESEWRERHEMEWRIE

Trade receivables

B 5 WA

Less: Provision for loss allowance (Note c) 3 : ET1REBEE (ffatc)

Other receivables (Note d)

HAb JEUFIR (et d)

Amount due from a related company FEURRAE A RIFRIE
Prepayments and deposits TN RIERIRE

Other PRC tax receivables H fth 1 B pE U B 1E

Notes:

() As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the trade and other receivables are

expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

(b) The Group normally grants credit terms of 30 to 180 days (20217: 30 to 180 days)

to its customers.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance is as follows:

Within 30 days 30HA

31 to 60 days 31£60H
61 to 90 days 61290H
91 to 120 days 91&%120H
121 to 365 days 121 £365H
Over 365 days jtBiA 365 H

2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
6,149 35,446
(149) (956)

6,000 34,490
5,883 6,727

2 2

663 12,964

126 1,315

12,674 55,498

fiax

=t+—H BEMBESEKKELE
fERFREER —FAKEXERS

X -

(o) REE—RAEFFRE0E180H (=

F-—4 :30F180H)MEEH -

NEEHR - RBR AR NBR R

BREINNE ZEYFIERRE AT -

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
1,647 6,466

979 3,688

911 3,079

203 4,982

552 15,609

1,708 666
6,000 34,490

—EREEXEEARAT .

RO CEFERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. E 5 EWFRIA KR H e W RKE (&)
Notes: (Continued) sk - (&)
© Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables: © E 5 W FIEE R 2 $15R
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBFT
At 1 January w—A—A8 956 68
(Decrease) Increase in loss allowance SRR ORl ) 1 (807) 888
At 31 December Bn+=—A=+—8” 149 956
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide for REBEABAMBRELAEIR
expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade % KA HEHEEREMNRE
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been B9 RUGRIENTE Hﬂ EEEERE
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the ageing. The # - REITRHEBEEEE  BHRER
expected credit losses also incorporate forward looking information. BERAZEERBREHLERDHE - T8
BEEEBETRSAEEER -
Within 31to 61 to 91 to 121to Over
30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days 365 days 365 days Total
30HRA 31£60R 61Z90H 91Z120H 121E365H &M;A365A @st
At 31 December 2022 R-Z-—F
+=A=+-RH
Weighted average expected METHRREEE
loss rate - - - - - 8% 2.4%
Receivable amount (RMB'000) EUFE(ARETT) 1,647 979 o1 203 552 1,857 6,149
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BEREARETT) - - - - - 149 149
At 31 December 2021 R-_ZE-_—%
+=A=t+—-8
Weighted average expected T EEEEE
loss rate - - - 1.5% 5% 8% 2.7%
Receivable amount (RMB'000) ERFE(ARETT) 6,466 3,688 3,079 5,058 16,431 724 35,446
Loss allowance (RMB’000) BEREARETT) - - - 76 822 58 956

(d) Included in the other receivables of approximately RMB2,535,000 (2021:
approximately RMB344,000) represents interest receivables from finance lease
receivables.
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(d) T AE AR EUGRIE S KA R 2,535,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_—_T_-_—F+_-_A=1+—HILtFE
20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 20. FEHEEWRFIE
Gross amount Present value
e RE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CF T —E-CF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT

Less than 1 year —FER 336,209 126,273 326,270 112,820
Between 1 and 2 years —FEHE 10,090 103,232 9,910 102,730
346,299 229,505 336,180 215,550
Less: Unearned finance income & : R B IR #5 Uz (10,119) (13,955) - -
Present value of lease payments 8 & 3133 & 336,180 215,550 336,180 215,550
Less: Loss allowances o R EE (4,135) -
332,045 215,550
Analysed as: DA
Current ED 322,257 112,820
Non-current SEmE 9,788 102,730
332,045 215,550
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the finance lease receivables are RZEZZFR-_FT-_—F+=A
secured over the leased assets represented mainly by machineries and =+—H  BEABESEBGIEMER
equipment. THEEETZ AHMENEE -
The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collateral of finance EABASEHENERLT  REET
lease receivables in the absence of approval by the lessee. All the Efﬁ’iiﬁﬁﬁﬁj‘i%ﬁf%%«%\lgz%ﬁ
Group’s finance lease receivables are denominated in RMB, the i o AEBEZTEREREREKR
functional currency of the relevant group entities. HUARESE - ARERME Eﬁ%lﬁ
BZINEEE o
The weighted average term of finance leases entered into is 1.4 years MEBES 2 METFHEPRI4F(Z
(2021: 1.7 years) and all the leases require repayment by installments. In To—F:1.7F) FIBEHEASHE
the event the lessee breaches the lease contract, the Group has the Moo BERAANERELY - NEEBREMN
right to use or sell the assets leased and to call for full or partial AHERHHAEE - ANAEEF#
repayment of the outstanding balance of finance lease receivables. At TR E K (EE R E & EWKIE
the end of the finance lease term, the lessee will be able to purchase the ZREFEER RBEMRERR - &M
leased assets at nominal price. AERELEEEREEREESE
The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixed at the contract date for REEEEHRN - HEMSHFELAE
the entire lease term. The average effective interest rate is approximately FE HEIFAEEEE R%E - THEBRER X
6.5% (2021: 6.5%) per annum. The finance lease receivables at the end HE65%(ZF=—%F :6.5%) ° TR
of the reporting period are neither past due nor impaired. SR 2 B E T E R UGRIBRE R B HR IR

—EREEXEEARAT s B FERSE
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20.

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for finance lease receivables:

At 1 January n—A—H
Increase in loss allowance gk Lp il
At 31 December R+-A=+—H

The Group applies the general approach under HKFRS 9 to provide for
expected credit losses for all finance lease receivables. The following
table details the risk profile of finance lease receivables (as detailed in
Note 5) at the end of the reporting period.

Total gross carrying amount — performing  BEE& &% — BT

Average loss rate EYEEER
12 months ECL 12{@ ATEAMEEBIE

At 31 December 2022, finance lease receivables with gross carrying
amount of approximately RMB336,180,000 were categorised into
“performing” under the Group’s current credit risk grading framework
and accordingly the loss allowance was measured at 12 months ECL.

The significant changes in loss allowance was contributed by significant
changes in the gross carrying amounts of the balance because of
finance lease receivables originated during year ended 31 December
2022.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as
approximately 14% (2021: 22%) of the total finance lease receivables
was due from the Group’s largest finance lease debtor and
approximately 54% (2021: 89%) of the total finance lease receivables
was due from the Group’s five largest finance lease debtors.
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20.

mEREEWRE (&)
BREMHEREFABRERE 2 HK

2022 2021
—E_C& —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
4,135 -
4,135 -

AEBERATEVHMESENF IR
—RRITER A BV E TR E R IAR TR
HEREERRER - TRAVNRERE
HIRR AR E UG IR (REAMRES) 8
BB

2022 2021
—E-C= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
336,180 215,550
Insignificant

1.23% WREK
4,135 -

RZTZ-_—F+-_A=+—8 &K\
B4 5 AR % 336,180,000 7T Hy &R &
ERKFEEAEERGEERRITR
ERTHBEAIRMG]  HEMNEE
BER12@ A B EEEIEE -

EBEBENEXELTIHREBEE-Z
T+ - A=t+—BHItFEELNR
BREREFUEAHBRABERESER
BLPTEL o

R-ZE-—F+-A=+—H K£EH
BEHERKFIBBRENN14%(=ZF
T 1 22%) R #)B4% (ZEZ—4F :
89%) D RIREAEEFAMEHER
HARERABREREEHA - thAEE
HiGEREERR -
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 21. BRAFEFAEZzEREE
LOSS

2022 2021

—E-C—F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong BB LTRAEES 195 419

Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong BB LTMRAFS - 82

195 501

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22, REeERESEEY

As at 31 December 2022, the bank balances carry interest at average R-TZ-—F+-_A=+—8 B4
market rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.3% (2021: 0.01% to 0.3%) per BIDIEFHTISFENF0.01%%£0.3%
annum. Conversion of approximately RMB20,873,000 (2021 TE - —F 1 001%20.3%) 5t B -

approximately RMB16,072,000) into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

4 AR #20,873,0007C ( = F = —4F :
#IA B 16,072,0007T) 7.8 AN B
B <7 B SN IR KD

23.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables B 5 R
Payroll and welfare payables e REF
Accrued expenses EEtEA

Other payables E At FE S 5E
Other PRC tax payables H b B fE A B IE
Contract liabilities aHEaE

Accrued interest expenses on

convertible notes
Interest payables

Amount due to a director (Note)

Deposits received

MR R BER M B

eSS
N —BEE A (HT)
Bz

The ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Within 30 days 308

31 to 60 days 31260H
61 to 90 days 61290 H
91 to 120 days 912 120H
121 to 365 days 1212 365H
Over 365 days B 365 H

Note:

The amount due to a director is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

23. ESENFEREMEMNRE

2022 2021
—E-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
1,142 12,627
4,417 2,913
2,993 4,075
31,175 50,938
2,980 2,724

360 421

1,706 -

108 -

609 18

- 5,800

45,490 79,516

RBER - WERAH2INEHE

NFRIERRESITAT -

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEFIT
833 140

5 5,916

5 902

40 2,486

107 591

152 2,592

1,142 12,627

Bat

BN —REEFERFESUE  EER 28

N AR EREFEE -

—EREEXEEARAT .

—=——

—_—a

FEERSE
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24.

25.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

BIEH — AR

Unsecured — current portion

Other borrowings HifgE
Denominated in: BRUTEEHE
HK$ BT

The other borrowings of approximately RMB4,653,000 are unsecured,
carry fixed interest rate of 5% per annum and are repayable after 1 year
from drawdown date.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 13 January 2022, the Company, Fujian Sanai Biotechnology Limited*
(RE=F £ ®WH & B R 2 7)) (‘Fujian Sanai’) and Fujian Zhixin
Medicine Co., Limited* (822 EE £ HF R A7) (“Fujian Zhixin”), both
being indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company (collectively as
“Obligors”) and two independent third parties being Mr. Zhi Shao Huan
(X %3 3R) (“Subscriber 1) and Mr. Jiang Heng Guang (i 18 )
(“Subscriber 2”) (collectively as “Subscribers”) entered into the
subscription agreement, pursuant to which, on the terms and subject to
the condition therein, the Company has agreed to issue, and the
subscribers have agreed to subscribe for, the convertible notes in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$72,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB63,677,000) which are convertible into the
Company’s ordinary shares at the conversion price of HK$0.119 per
share (subject to adjustment).

As security for the due and punctual payment of the convertible notes
and performance by the Company of its obligations under or arising out
of the subscription agreement, the Company will execute the charges in
respect of 57% and 43% of the entire issued share capital of Sanai
International Investment Company Limited, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, to be executed by the Company in favour of
the Subscriber 1 and Subscriber 2 respectively as security of the
convertible notes. In addition, each of Obligors will execute the charge to
be executed by the Obligors in favour of the Subscribers over the bank
accounts in the name of the Obligors as a continuing security for
payment and discharge of the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible notes and performance by the Company pursuant to the
subscription agreement.

*English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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24, FEEE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
4,653 -
4,653 -
HEMEEN A ARY 4,653,000 7T 5
W ZETFEFE5%TE B BRI
AHEffR—F NEE -
25. ABRBEE

R-ZE-_—F—F+=H AQA K
AREEE2ENBARBR=ZEEDER
BERAR([BER=B ) REER(EE
BERAR(BEZE] (5 &%
BEAD EMEBLE = BRI E
(TRBA D EFEEEE(TREA2])
(I [ZERBAD T LRE RS
B - IBRIEE PR R EGHATR -
AARRBHTMZEREARERE
N4 48%8 572,000,000 7T (FHE RL
AR 63,677,000 7T ) H) 7] 42 A% 22 7]
BBMARANR LR ES  BREA
AL 01198 T (7] T %) -

VB AT 2 R 245 B HA R an B =7 < A K K
RNEIBITENREMEE FP&RESE
EREIOER  ANAREIARQRN
HEEZEMBARZEBEBREEEBRA
RIEEBE BITIRAAI57% M 43% B4 -
MARBIARBANRREA2DBIE
B EE IR o N - ZEE
BASBBELIRITRAEM (ZK
HAZEEBSANRBABIRA © LAZ
LEBBAREERY)  EAIITRIKE
AR =R M AR EE RS R R AN E]
REREHEELONFEER -

* RBXEERHS
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CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 25. WEREE (&)
Convertible notes with coupon interest rate of 3% per annum payable AR R AR B 1T B BT —(EE
semi-annually in arrears will mature on the first anniversary of the issue FIEH ZFEFMNER3%  ATG¥F
date. TR =R
On 9 February 2022, convertible notes with an aggregate principal RZZEZ_F-_ANB XeBEAE
amount of HK$72,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 72,000,000/ JT( & RN 4 AR &
RMB63,677,000) was successfully issued with maturity date of 8 63 677,000 7T ) B AT 3R A% SE 4R B Bl I 3%
February 2023. CHEBRAZT=F="AN\R-
Details of above have been disclosed in the Company’s announcements T BEFBEERERARGIBS A
dated 13 January 2022, 26 January 2022, 31 January 2022 and 9 T —#F—A+=H -ZFE=-=F—A
February 2022. Z+RB - F—A=F+—HK
B CFE_ARBZRE -
The convertible notes were recognised as financial liabilities designated AR EENBRERAEEZRAEES
upon initial recognition at FVPL. BATEFABRZEHMEE -
RMB’000
ARET T
Issue of convertible notes é’é‘ SR IES 63,677
Changes in fair value charged to profit or loss RIEBEHBRAATEEE 1,412
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+RA=+—HZKAE 65,089

The fair value of the convertible notes is equal to the summation of the
fair value of the liability component and conversion option component,
calculated by using discounted cash flows and Binomial Option Pricing
Model, respectively.

The fair value of the convertible notes at issue date and at 31 December
2022 were determined with reference to a professional valuation
conducted by an independent professional valuer and were categorised
into the level 3 fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13.

*

English name is translated for identification purpose only.

MR ATESNE GRS EE
HERRERD "”‘EIJHzBEfRiﬁ%mg 18
AR EBER S E 2 DFERM o

BEREERETHREER - —F
+_)Elf+ BZRAFEDE2EET
BEGEMETNEEGEMETE I
DEABBE BB REEINSHEAATE
NAFEBRE=BH -

. HEXEEHRBS

EREEEXEEERAT s — T _FFERE
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25.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Major parameters adopted in the calculation of the fair values of the
convertible notes at issue date and at 31 December 2022 are
summarised below:

Share price iz B
Share price volatility f& B 1R
Risk-free interest rate g ealcraipes

Dividend yield A% B &
Discount rate ALIE &
Period HAF]

The significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement of
the convertible notes at 31 December 2022 is expected share price
volatility. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected share price volatility. An increase in the expected share price
volatility, with all other variables held constant, would result in increase in
fair value of the convertible notes at 31 December 2022 and decrease in
the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2022. If the expected
stock price volatility has been 5% higher with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s pre-tax profit for the year would be decreased by
approximately RMB12,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022.

On 3 March 2023, the Company entered into the supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) with the Obligors and the Subscribers, pursuant
to which, on the terms and subject to the conditions therein, the
Company, the Obligors and the Subscribers conditionally agreed, among
others, to amend the conversion price at HK$0.098 per share and
extend the maturity date for 3 years and make certain related changes
under the convertible notes. The Subscribers have agreed to execute
the Deed of Release of Account Charge (as defined in the Company’s
announcement dated 3 March 2023) upon satisfaction of the conditions
precedent under the Supplemental Deed. Up to 3 March 2023, the
Company has redeemed a total amount of HK$12,000,000 of the
principal amount of the convertible notes and paid all the interest
accrued therein. The above amendments have become effective on 20
March 2023. Details of the Supplemental Deed were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 3 March 2023 and 20 March 2023.
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ERERE (&)
SEABEEERETARRR-F
THEFT A=+ —HATEMRRKZ
TESEMIIWT

At 31 December

At issue date 2022
WZZE—-—

RETEH +ZA=+—H

HK$0.083 7% 7T HK$0.080 7 7T

100.21% 116.60%

0.41% 4.32%

0.00% 0.00%

2.85% 7.88%

1 year & 0.11 year &

AMBREBER T F+=_A=+—
AZ AFEFEFAZERTAHE
BABEATBHRRERE - AT EE
HIYEHARR (B IR 2 IELLRA(R - AT A E
fh B E  TBERE R RS
BRI HREEN T -_—F+=-A
Z+—HZRAFEEM  WEAEEE
B - —HF+-A=+—HILFEN
SR D o (HTEHAAR (B R IR A = 5%
METAEMESEIFTE  BIAEER
Hze—_Z-_—F#-A=+—HIFEZ
FRBRFE AR F 8 R 4912,0008 7T ©

R-ZTB-=F=A=H KAAFIEER
ARRBAFT LB AZE((HER
B Bt BEEPIEREZEEY
FBR + AQR] ~ BEFARRBEAB G
RE(EThRE)EITRREALER
0.008 B T EBEEBAERSF - WR
BB EEELE TEREE - R
A B RETEE AR 78 IR 1 SR i 1
% FIURPEFBRBRZER(EERLR
N E-_=ZF=ZA=ZB2RE)-H
E-ET-_=F=ZA=H  ARABEL
4 #£12,000,000 7 JT &9 AT #2 f% = 45 AN
SHEUSHEPABREAFE - Lils
SR E-=F=A_+tHE4% @
REENFBARARABHEE=-T
CEFE=ZA=ZAR-E-_=F=A—+
AZRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_—_T_-_—F+_-_A=1+—HILtFE
DEFERRED TAXATION 26. ELEFHIE
The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements RS HENEBRRECHBEERE
thereon during the reporting periods: gEmT -

At 1 January 2021
Credit to profit or loss

u+)\}ﬁ/\

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H8BK

—EF—-A—H
Credit to profit or loss FTAEE
At 31 December 2022 R-TB=-—%F
+=A=+—H

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of approximately RMB38,998,000 (20217:
RMB49,878,000) as at 31 December 2022 as it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the tax losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not
expire under current tax legislation except for tax losses of RMB947,000
(2021: RMB1,878,000) in PRC which is available for carry forward to
set-off future assessable income for a period of five years, as follows:

Tax losses will expired in:

2023 —E-=

2024 —ZTNF
2025 “T-RE
2026 :2i/\£ﬁ
2027 T F

RZZE=Z—F—H—H

Revaluation of
assets upon
acquisition of
a subsidiary
WEE— B E
ARREGEE
RMB’000
ARBFT

2,081
(490)

1,591
(490)

1,101

AEEBRZZ_=F+=-A=+—HY
fEat 25 B E 1R 40 A R ¥ 38,998,000
EquﬁfAEMWWMME)

RELEFRIBEE @ REARBBERE
ﬂi%@&§%$ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂ@%ﬁﬁ
JEE DA B R 2R B AR T K1) o e BN
HIEEEARKEM700TT( T = —
F AR H1,8780005T) T 4 LA
AR F O RKERBRILALN - BRI
WITHE - BiEEIBT SR A8
T

BIAE AL TR EEE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T
- 148

- 311

- 648

566 771

381 -

947 1,878

EREEEXEEERAT s — T _FFERE
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27.

28.

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021,

1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021,
1 January 2022

Issue of shares upon exercise of
share options (Note)

At 31 December 2022

Shown in the consolidated and
Company’s statement of financial
position at 31 December

Note:

=

F+-A=+—RIFE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a total of 129,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each were issued upon exercise of 129,000,000 share options at the exercise
price of HK$0.084 per share option. The difference of RMB8,443,000 between the
proceeds from exercise of share options of approximately RMB9,584,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$10,836,000) and the nominal value of share capital of the Company
issued of approximately RMB1,141,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,290,000) was

recognised in share premium reserve.

RESERVES
(@) Share premium

27. BZ&
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZEKRHA ot
(000) HK$’000
(Fh) FHAT
SBE
BREEO.01 BT LA
RZZ=Z—F—HF—H-
T —%+=ZA=+—8"
T F—-HF—HK
—E-_F+-A=1+—H 10,000,000 100,000
ERITRAR
SREEOC.01 B ITH L B
RZZE_—F—HA—QH1-
—E-—F+-A=+—08"
—E-—_F—AF—H 3,067,223 30,672
TR AR T BT IR (B 3E)
129,000 1,290
R-EB-_—_+=-A=+—H 3,196,223 31,962
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBT T
RTZA=+—Hz&He %
KRB AR AT
29,742 28,601
Bzt -
HE_Z-—F+-A=1+—HILEE  USH
8% % 1 0.084 7% 7T #9 77 {2 & 77 {82 129,000,000 15
B IR i 15 B 3176 ££129,000,0001% & i HE &
0.01 B LA E MR - TG RIEN
9,584,000 7T (18557 4710,836,000 % 7T ) £ 2%
RABBITIRAEELN AR 1,141,000 7T (48
LR HA1,2900008 L) 2 HMWEBEARE
8,443,000 7T B HA B A% i (B i R 7R o
28. f#1E

Under the Cayman Companies Law, the share premium account
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which a
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course

of business.
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28. RESERVES (Continued) 28. f#E (&)

(b) Special reserve (b) HBRIFEE
Special reserve represents the aggregate of the difference BRIREEBIEAT SEMERE R
between the nominal amount of the shares issued by the EAEERATRNN-_ZEZ+
Company and the amount of share capital of Sanai BVI acquired FLEmAETEESEANRTAF
pursuant to the group reorganisation in preparation for the listing BETROmERE=2BVIKE
of the Company’s shares in 2007. ARG EERZERE ©

(c) Statutory surplus reserve () ZEEBRERRHE
As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign RIBEFBISIMNEE D ENREBE
investment enterprises in the PRC, the Company’s PRC BROEIR - NARIFEKE AR
subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of their profit after EREBRTBEF B 10% LA
tax to the reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered IARES  BEEEeER
capital and thereafter any further appropriation is optional. The HFMERZ 50% @ ME %2 #%
statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior year RANAIEE SR - SAE BB
losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by ATARERHBEFEBE(D
means of a capitalisation issue. B) WrAIEBRERNLEITER

ABBIR A E T o

(d)  Share option reserve (d) BRERE
This comprises the portion of fair value of unexercised share ZERERERTARAAENR
options granted to eligible participants of the Company that has 28E BRBLRE M ERRW T
been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy 2R ARER B E AR X FE
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in Note 2 to the Frf il 2 @ st BURHER Z MR 1T
consolidated financial statements. FIERE 2 A FER—E D

(e) Translation reserve () EXRREE

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

bE X R R IERA EIE L BN
B BImMERMmE L 2 SMNEZE -
ZRB RIS A MWK E2
PRERDI 2 & aT R ERIE
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28. RESERVES (Continued)

Movement of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

At 1 January 2021 R=ZZ-—%—H—H
Loss and total comprehensive expense  EREER R 2 EE S 4%
for the year

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January RZE-_—F+-A=+-HBRK
2022 —E--_F%—-f-H

Issue of shares upon exercise of share  1TEBERRIE A 1TAD (H5E27)

options (Note 27)

Recognition of equity-settled RUNEREE RN BEB 2
share-based payment (Note 31) NR(Hz31)

Loss and total comprehensive FREBEEEREZEAXEE
expense for the year

At 31 December 2022 R-Z--f+-A=+-H

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ® Annual Report 2022

28. f#fE (&)
AAREEEHOT
Share

Share option  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RAEE BRERE 2iER g
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NS ARBTFR NS ARBTFT
1,254,954 1,647 (1,084,562) 172,039
- - (6,959 (6,959)
1,254,954 1,647 (1,091,521) 165,080
8,443 - - 8,443
- 9,722 - 9,722
- - (2,592) (2,692
1,263,397 11,369 (1,094,113) 180,653
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investments in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment

CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables

Amount due from subsidiaries
Financial assets at FVPL
Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings
Convertible notes designated
as financial liabilities at FVPL

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital (Note 27)
Reserves (Note 28)

TOTAL EQUITY

29. ARATBMBMRRER

2022 2021
—E-—F —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
EREBEE
RSB AR ZIZE 76 76
N 14 21
90 97
o Ath FE W R TE 78 21
FEUR KT/ A R FRIE 289,560 199,884
BAFEFABREZEREE 195 419
REMRESEEY 161 83
289,994 200,407
REBEE
E b e 5B 9,947 6,823
EEE 4,653 -
EERAFEFABEZ
SRl B EN T RREZE 65,089 -
79,689 6,823
RBEERE 210,305 193,584
EEFRE 210,395 193,681
B #E
R (Hiat27) 29,742 28,601
T (Y a28) 180,653 165,080
RS 210,395 193,681

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Yuan Chaoyang
RS
DIRECTOR
BE

ARBHBRARER =T _=ZF=HA
=+REEESIMERRETE - S h

AT ATRERREE

She Hao

Py =|
TR

DIRECTOR
ko
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30.

31.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which mainly
includes convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at FVPL,
interest-bearing borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
strategy was unchanged from 2021. The directors of the Company
review the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of
existing debts.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed on 16 June 2017, the
Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) for, amongst others, the senior management and employees,
which serves as incentives or rewards to attract, retain and motivate
staff. The New Share Option Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10
years commencing on 21 June 2017 (save that the Company, by
ordinary resolution in general meeting or the Board may at any time
terminate the operation of the New Share Option Scheme). Under the
New Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant options to all full-time
employees, directors of the Company (including independent non-
executive directors) and part-time employees with weekly working hours
of 10 hours and above, of the Group, substantial shareholders of each
member of the Group, associates of the directors and substantial
shareholders of any member of the Group, trustee of any trust pre-
approved by the Board, and any advisor (professional or otherwise) or
consultant, distributor, supplier, agent, customer, joint venture partner,
service provider of the Group whom the Board considers, at its sole
discretion, has contributed or contributes to the Group.
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ETRBRER

FEEEBRHES  UHEARTEEADN
ERERAASELETALE - FAR
TRE B E BB A A 2 & R
AR FIMEALD R -

AEEZEAGEBREGER  EPEE
BEEERRATFEFABREZEHMA
BEORERER - G EEREAR R
BAEGLERZ BESETRARR
& o

ARBBEESEEF—ARTENE
Bo-REE_ZE_—_F+=-A=+—H
IEEFE - AEEZRIE T - —F4f
b #EE B c RAREZBBEEEAR
2R R B R AR R A AN R RS 2 R AR T
BARLERE - REARAESESE A&
B 455 BT TR AR (D K A% (2] B DA R 3%
IFEENERNRAEENFEHEER
K -

BRETE

RER-Z—tFRA+RRBEZE
BARR  ARARHMEE)SRE
28 MR SR ATIE RS B ([F B ik
TR - ERWE - BB RABE T
AR @ - SRR B A =
—tFRNAS T HETFHBESE
M MEARBRBRAEG LT BRE
EREFG AR R ITRERETE N
EIE - RIBHMBAES S EFET2
RIS EBRER TERR/EALER
BEMZARE2RIES ARAESE
(BRBIYIFNTES) BRI N
BIONERA Lz FRBREE AKE
BERERTZ EERER - AEEERK
BRAEERIERRZBEA EF
BIREMETAEFEZETEA - ARE
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue on the date of adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme (namely, 233,877,250 shares, representing
approximately 7.32% (2021: 7.63%) of the Company’s issued shares at
31 December 2022), without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme
of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. No option may be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme if such limit is exceeded. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
to be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date of grant,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The grant of
share options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company or any of their respective associates requires the approval
of the independent non-executive directors (excluding an independent
non-executive director who is the grantee of the share options). Options
granted in any 12-month period to a substantial shareholder of the
Company or an independent non-executive director or any of their
respective associates representing in aggregate more than 0.1% of the
Company’s shares in issue at the date of grant or with an aggregate
value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

Upon acceptance of the share option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to
the Company by way of consideration for the grant. A share option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme at any time during the period to be determined and notified by
the Board to each grantee, provided that such period of time shall not
be more than ten years from the date of grant. The New Share Option
Scheme does not specify a minimum period for which a share option
must be held nor a performance target which must be achieved before a
share option can be exercised. However, the Board may, at its sole
discretion, determine such terms and impose such other restrictions on
the grant of a share option. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the offer date which must be
a business day, (i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

No share options had been granted, exercised or lapsed during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and the number of outstanding share options
are 36,800,000 at 31 December 2021.

On 29 April 2022, the Company granted a total of 174,000,000 share
options at an exercise price of HK$0.084 per share of the Company to
certain eligible participants (the “Grantees”), of which 73,000,000 share
options were granted to the executive and non-executive directors of the
Company, pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company
adopted on 16 June 2017.

No vesting period or vesting condition on the share options and the
share options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant and
within a period of five years from the date of grant. The weighted
average remaining contractual life is 4.9 years (2021: 1.4 years).

31.

AR REET 8 (&)
TERICANR RN R B S HLAERT - ARIEFT
BT B TR 2 B AR AT K 2 IR
DHBE - TEAFBBARA RRNTE
R & 2 BB %175 10% (8
233,877,250 - R=ZZE = =—F+=A4
Zt+—BHEARRBEEHITRMDE
7.32% (T = —4HF :7.63%)) ° {71
BRI B B AR R B E iR
iR BB R BB EFITENA AR
TERERR R ] TEITHRMEE LR
WEA ETSBBARRFTRE TR
19380% ° (B HZREE TSI
FERR AT EIR L R ARE - FER A RR]
AR S Se it ERT - PAEM 1218 A B
AEEAMER A TE B FRE 2B
REREFT S N 2 B 31T R 3IT D &
B TNERBBARRNEL B SHEET
BH1% e MESE - ARAEEITERA
BRFEZRIKEESANERBEA
REBRENEEE Y ERITES (R
BIES BEREAR ARNEIERITE
F) A o WA 12 A BHEAET
AR E BB RSB IFMITEF M
EEENEABBAZBRES R
BinEE & £BBARRNEHBHE
1TRE 15 0.1% sk (AR 1E 5,000,000 74
JT - WBEARRRIRERE S ALE

R NBRAER - ARABAX1.00
AL TARAHWESRHNE - BER
REEFSEFTIBNZERAZEH
HAPR POAR 38 B s A 5t B A0 I5RSR BB A 17
% HEZEHRASEREL B RER L+
F o FIB AR AT 2 AR E R B AR AT
FETT{E A MM 7R85 A R AR 1O SRR HAPR =%
WEERZEEBR - A EEEGA
fEgrRMIEEEABGR  LRRE
BREREE MRS - FTEEHRART
EEEE  EIMERUAT=F2&%
EOREHNAMAREER)ARA
Bty 2 dem (&« (i) B 24 A a1 R fE
BERAZARBRA FHUTE © K i)
RRBEADEE °

REZE-_Z-_—F+-_A=1+—HLHF
B BEEREERD - TR
RIZ-—F+-HA=+—H " HAK1T
R AR 4 15 £ 4 36,800,000 °

RZZEZZFWMAZ+NAH  AAFIR
BARTN-ZE—+HHF XA TN BIEFEH
2B R RITEETRADQEK
2 0.084 B LA E TABIRZEE ([7&
8| AD & H A $£174,000,00017 i %
7 - H 173,000,000 17 B B%#E % T K
NAITRIENITES -

BE RS M ML AT (] SR B PR ok SR B 11 -
AEREBHEERHAREAFHER
AR FATE o EFHEHBTE
NFEEBAIF (ZFE-—F : 1.44F) -
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. HBRESTE (&)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share TERBEEREHRNAQNTEREZE
options during the reporting period: El
Number of
share
Exercise price options at Number of share
per share January 2021, Numberofshare  options exercised ~ Number of share
option 31 December 2021 options granted during the year options at
Category of the grantee HKS Date of grant  Exercisable period and 1 January 2022 during the year (Note) 31 December 2022
N8z
_H_E \
TE-f
t2R=1-AR
I8Z% ERfEL ot S
EhTRE -f-R2 Enfiz EhREEE  ToR=t-B2
ERAEH B RURY fkH BhERA EhEHR (ki) EhREE
DIRECTORS
gz
Zhang Rongging 0.3 24 May 2018 24 May 20180 22,000,000 - - 22,000,000
23May 2023
RRR 0 ZE-\f1f ZE-)\§RA_TMAE 22,000,000 - - 22000000
HRR ZE-ZERAC1ER
Chen Chengoing 0.3% 30May 2018 30 May 201810 2,800,000 - - 2,800,000
29May 2023
RiE 0% ZE-N\ERA ZE-N\ERAZTRE 2,800,000 - - 2,800,000
B ZECCERRCHAR
(Geo Borui 0.084 29 April 2022 29 Apri 2022 to - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
28 April 2032
Al 00 ZEoZERR CECEMACTARE - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
STAE ZEECFEAZTAA
Yuen Chaoyeng 0.084 29 April 2022 29 Apri 2022 to - 30,000,000 (30,000,000 -
28 April 2032
e 008 ZEZZEMJ —ECEMACTARE - 30,000,000 (30,000,000) -
s 1 21 o
She Hao 0.084 29 April 202229 Apri 2022 to - 22,000,000 22,000,000) -
28 April 2032
#% 0.084 “ECERR CECCFRACTARE - 22,000,000 22,000,000) -
ZThE ZEZZERACTAR
Zhang Rongging 0.084 29 April 202229 Apri 2022 t0 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
28 April 2032
FRE 0.084 ZEIIFRR ZEIIEMACTARE - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
ZthE  ZEZZEBAZNR
XiuYuen 0.084 29 April 2022 29 Apri 2022 t0 - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000
28 April 2032
5 0.084 ZECCERR CECERACTRAZ - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000
ZTAE  ZEZZERACTAR
Sub-fotal 24,800,000 73,000,000 (52,000,000 45,800,000
It 24,800,000 73,000,000 (52,000,000) 45,800,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31. BRESTE (&)
Number of
share
Exercise price options at Number of share
per share 1January 2021, Numberofshare  optionsexercised ~ Number of share
option 31 December 2021 options granted during the year options at
Category of the grantee HKS Date of grant  Exercisable period and 1 January 2022 during the year (Notg] 31 December 2022
it
_H_E.
i
T2AZT-AR
. s EhfREL R-g2zf
BhRE -f-82 Engt2 BhREE  toR=t-B2
ARAEH i RHRE HRE EhEsa EhRE (Hi) Bhesa
OTHER GRANTEES
BB A
Employees in aggregate 0.3% 30May 2018 30 May 2018 o 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
29May 2023
[E34% 0.3% 5-\FRf ZE-)\FRA=TAE 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
SR ZECCERACTAR
Non-employees in aggregate 0.3% 30May 2018 30 Mey 201810 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
29May 2023
HERER 0% ZE-\ERR R-)\¥RA=1AZE 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
SR ZECCERACTAR
Employees in aggregete 0.084 29 Apr 2022 29 April 2022 0 - 101,000,000 (77,000,000) 24,000,000
28 April 2032
[Ea8a 0.084 ZEITEMA ZECCEMACTARE - 101,000,000 (77,000,000 24,000,000

“tHhA  ZESCEmA-TAR

12,000,000 101,000,000 (77,000,000) 36,000,000

Total
Eh) 36,800,000 174,000,000 (129,000,000) 81,800,000
Exercisable at the end

of the reporting period
NEEBRT 81,800,000
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.33 HK$0.084 HK$0.084 HK$0.19
NELLAEE 033%7 008457 008487 0197
Note: Kt -
The weighted average share price at the date of share options exercised during the year BE-_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—HILFE  RBERETE
ended 31 December 2022 is HK$0.075. HE P ER0.075/8 T ©
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31.

32.

33.

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of share options granted on 29 April 2022 are
approximately HK$0.065 per option, which are calculated using a
Binomial Option Pricing Model by an independent professional valuer
with the following key inputs:

Fair value at grant date BREBEZAFEAE
Share price IR E

Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility TEHRK 18
Option life B AR i AARR
Expected dividend TEEIRR B

Risk-free interest rate A [ e I =R

During the year ended 31 December 2022, with reference to the fair
value of the share options granted, the Group recognised approximately
RMB9,722,000 (2021: Nil) as equity-settled share-based payment
expenses.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has no capital commitments at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in a state-managed scheme. The employees
of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the government of the PRC.
The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage
of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except for the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has no other transactions
with its related parties.
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R-EBE-—FMA -+ N AREER
EHAFELNETHEREGSE
JL - ERB Y BEGEMRA - EAH
EEEENGE  TZHABENT

At 29 April 2022
R-—TFE—_—
WA=+hH

7 7t HK$0.065
7 7t HK$0.078
3 7T HK$0.084
83.7%

10 F years

2 Nil

2.82%

REBEE_ZT-_—F+=-A=+—HLF
B AEE2ECRHUBRENQTEE

RS S B AR D B AR 2 3
ST ARBEQ 722,000 (ZE = —4F :
) o

BAEE
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AR B E AORIE
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AEBRBRRRIIE RS EEH
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wHEAES A8 ((REETE ) - %2
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ITMEEHEREENEBRA(EA
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 35. ARRFREEMBRAFE
COMPANY
Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as NR-E-_—_FR-_E-_—F+-A1
follows: =T—HEXEZEWBARFBAOT :
Proportion ownership
interest and voting power
held by the Company
Place of ANRFERBEAL
incorporation Particulars of issued RERE
Name of subsidiaries and operation and fully paid-up capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
ML K 2RTR
WEARERE Rk BRRAFE B# HE FEER
Sanai International Investment Company ~ The BVI 10,000 ordinary shares of 100% - Investment holding
Limited (“Sanai BVI) US$1 each
ZRERKREBRLRA(=ZEBVII) RERAHE 10,000 R BIREE RERR
1R EBR
HEERBERE (FY)BRATR The PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Provision of finance
Union Development Financial Leasing RMB120,000,000 leasing service
(Shenzhen) Company Limited * (Note)
SEBRMEBECRINEROR(MF) & A ERARE RERERERE
120,000,0007T
Fujian Yongchun The PRC Registered capital of - 51%  Development, manufacture,
RMB15,000,000 marketing and sales of
pharmaceutical products
BEXE FE A ERARE P 25 28R
15,000,000 7C HEBZEM
Fujian Zhixin The PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Marketing and sales of
RMB2,000,000 pharmaceutical products
BRZR H FERARE EELRHEREER
2,000,0007C
Zentrogene Bioscience Laboratory Limited  Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of genetic testing
of HK$2,000,000 and molecular
diagnostic services
Zentrogene Bioscience Laboratory Limited %75 2,000,000 R EREE REERRA R
1R EBR DFEMDE RS
hERREHE (R ABRAT The PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Provision of finance
Zhonghuixin Financial Leasing (Shenzhen) US$200,000,000 leasing service
Co., Ltd. * (Note)
TESREBECRINBERAR (M) +H FER RERERERE
200,000,000 7T
REREIREELARA A The PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Marketing and sales of
Fujian RuiChuang Health Industry RMB10,000,000 pharmaceutical products
Co., Ltd. *
BEGAIRREEER A FE AfERARE BRERHEREER
10,000,000 7T
* The English translation of the name is for reference only. * HXHEMAT
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35.

36.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Details of principal subsidiaries at the end of reporting period are as
follows: (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 or at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Note:

These entities are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC with limited
liability.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table shows the information relating to the non-wholly
owned subsidiary, Fujian Yongchun that has material non-controlling
interests (“NCI”) during the reporting period. The recognised financial
information represents amounts before inter-company eliminations.

FEiERe i i RELL I

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests

At 31 December R+=—HA=+-—-A8
Non-current assets SEmBIAE
Current assets MEEAE

Current liabilities mENRE
Non-current liabilities ERBAE

Net assets BEFE

Accumulated NCI BETIEIERR M

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—-HLEFE

Revenue
Profit and total comprehensive income

Profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to NCI

Dividends paid to NCI
Net cash from operating activities
Net cash from investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Yezs
EA R 2 A B

IR R (R 2
EHBARE

RANEE O
REZPRBHREFHE
REEEMISH S FH

MEREATAR S EHR
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35.

36.

RATEEMBLAFE (&)

REMREIEMBERRFE

=3
&)

mr

—~

RABEZERHLRMAIARBNBA
Tﬂﬁ%@%ﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁ“&fﬁﬁ%%
FEEZERED - AARIEEARMN
ﬁlJﬂjEWEWEQﬂZ%'\% B REE
W& -

BENE L Tﬁﬁi_fffiﬁ_g
T+ ZA=+—HLEFEIN=
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2022 2021
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49% 49%
15,954 19,050
12,863 69,214
(6,310) (44,877)
(1,102) (1,591)
21,405 41,796
10,488 20,480
36,868 47,650
12,204 16,021
5,980 7,850
15,972 -
16,071 32
- 74
(15,972) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—HILFE

LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 7 October 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
with a purchaser (the “Purchaser”) pursuant to which the Group agreed
to sell and the Purchaser agreed to buy 100% equity interests in the
Group’s subsidiaries, namely Sanai International Trading Limited, China
Sanai Investment Holdings Company Limited, Baijiahui Chinese Medicine
Group Limited and Forever Trump Development Holdings Limited
(collectively the “Disposed Subsidiaries”) at total consideration of
HK$400. Upon completion, a loss on disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately RMB2,484,000 was charged to profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2022. Each of the Disposed Subsidiaries was
incorporated in Hong Kong. In the opinion of the management of the
Group, the disposal has no material adverse impact to the daily business
operations of the Group as a whole.

The aggregated net assets of the Disposed Subsidiaries at respective
date of disposal and details of loss on disposal of subsidiaries are
summarised as follows:

37.

HERB AR ZEE
RZZE-_—F+A+tH AEHFE—-F
BFTEFDIUREERRZE &
o AEBRELEMEAREBER
AREBEHBAT(=EERZS5HR
AR FR=ZBREEREGRAR B
BEREERERAT(CHERB L
A2 - BREABL00ETT °
REKE REBEE-_T=-_—_F+=A
Zt+—HIEFE HEHNBARZEE
AR 2,484,000LE BB -
BHEHBARSBREEFMAL -
AEEEEERE  HETEHALE
WEBAETEXKELETEERNTF
%28 o

EHENBATIRSECEERBE R
BEFERLEMB AR ZEEFIEH
AR

2022
—E__—F
RMB’000
AR®TR
Property, plant & equipment M - BEREE 16
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H th FEYRIE 4,304
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFABRCSREE 90
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 67
Other payables and accruals HAb BN FRIERIERTEA (958)
Tax payables FERIBETE (188)
Net assets at date of disposal HEBHFEE 3,331
Exchange differences on translation of REBINER 2B ZE
foreign operations (847)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZER 2,484
Net cash outflow arising from disposal HEMRBAREEN
of subsidiaries ReERHFE 67

CEREEXEBERAT s 2 FFERS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—Z—-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 38. HZERESREXRMTE
FLOWS
(@ Major non-cash transactions (@ EXIBEEXRSH
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial MRER A B ISRR Efbith 5 iR EE
statements, the Group has no major non-cash transactions for EN REBBE T -__FK
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. T F+-_A=+—HIF
EMEERFRERS -
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) WMETEBFIESEEEH
Convertible
notes
designated
as financial Interest-
liabilities bearing Lease
at FVPL borrowings liabilities Total
EERERAT
Bt ABRZ
SREENT
BREE FEER HEEE et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 H-ZE-—%—F—H -

and 1 January 2022 —“E-—%+-fA=+-H
r=F-—%—H—H - - - -
Changes from financing cash flows BEREHREEH 63,677 4,653 (164) 68,166

Changes in fair value of convertible notes 5 AR A FE ABHF 2
designated as financial liabilties at SREABNTARER

FVPL (Note 25) NFEEH (fF25) 1,412 - - 1,412
New leases HHE - - 1,461 1,461
Interest expenses lisNeaha - - 28 28
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—_E+-B=+-H 65,089 4,653 1,325 71,067
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZEZE—Z—-_—F+—-_A=+—HItFE
LITIGATIONS 39. A
As referred to the announcement of the Company dated 18 January ZIRMA AR H Hﬁtjf T _-_—%F—A
2021, the Company has received a civil judgement (the “Judgement”) +NBZR % RARCEEILRTE

dated 22 December 2020 issued by 1t mMEPNH 4 A REBT (the No.
4 Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing®) (the “Court”) in relation to a
litigation (the “Litigation”) brought by 3t R LRI B EAHER D E

A 7] (Beijing Cultural Technology Finance Lease Company Limited*,
the “Plaintiff”) against, among others, (a) the Company; (b) then
subsidiary, Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“Fujian
Sanai”), the disposal of in April 2019; (c) Lin Ouwen, a former executive
Director; and (d) Lin Min, a former executive Director.

The Plaintiff first filed a statement of claim (the “Statement of Claim”)
with the Court on 30 August 2018, whereby, among others, the Plaintiff
alleged that (i) Fujian Sanai, a then subsidiary of the Company, had
entered into a finance lease agreement (the “Finance Lease
Agreement”) with the Plaintiff on 21 March 2016, pursuant to which the
Plaintiff agreed to lease certain assets to Fujian Sanai for a term of 36
months with a total leasing cost of RMB134,954,600 and an interest
rate of 8.3%; (ii) each of the Company, Lin Ouwen, who was a then
executive Director, and Lin Min, entered into a guarantee agreement with
the Plaintiff respectively to provide joint guarantee (the “Guarantee”) for
the debts owed by Fujian Sanai under the Finance Lease Agreement;
and (iii) Fujian Sanai had failed to pay the rent payable under the Finance
Lease Agreement since 20 August 2017, and the Company, Lin Ouwen
and Lin Min had failed fulfill their obligations as guarantors. The
Statement of Claim was received by the Company in July 2019.

As such, the Plaintiff demanded, among others, that (i) Fujian Sanai
immediately pay to the Plaintiff the unpaid due rent in the amount of
RMB33,855,032.69 with the default interest accrued thereon, undue
rent in the amount of RMB47,592,982.21, default payment in the
amount of RMB4,759,298.22 (being 10% of the undue rent), the legal
fees in the amount of RMB800,000, the retention purchase price of
RMB100 and the cost incurred in relation to the Litigation; and (i) the
Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min be jointly liable for the debts owed by
Fujian Sanai under the Finance Lease Agreement.

The Plaintiff also submitted to the Court a copy of the alleged minutes of
the Board meeting (the “Board Meeting”) held on 22 March 2016 on
which resolutions (the “Resolutions”) were passed to approve, inter alia,
the provision of the Guarantee by the Company. However, only two of
the then Directors, Lin Ouwen and Lin Qingping, were shown to have
attended and voted on the Resolutions.

English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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*

LITIGATIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Judgement, among other things, Fujian Sanai shall,
within ten days of the Judgement, pay to the Plaintiff the unpaid due rent
under the Finance Lease Agreement in the amount of
RMB33,855,032.69 with the default interest accrued thereon, the
accelerated due rent under the Finance Lease Agreement in the amount
of RMB47,592,982.21, the default payment in the amount of
RMB4,759,298.22, the retention purchase price of RMB100, the legal
fees in the amount of RMB800,000, the announcement fees in the
amount of RMB2,650, the preservation insurance fees in the amount of
RMB175,636.06 and the preservation fees in the amount of RMB5,000
(collectively the “Litigation Amount”); and the Company, Lin Ouwen and
Lin Min shall be jointly liable for the Litigation Amount, and they are
entitled to claim against Fujian Sanai after discharging of such joint
liabilities.

As referred to the announcement of the Company dated 4 February
2021, the Company has lodged an appeal (the “Appeal”) against the

Judgement to it = & HARERT (the High People’s Court of Beijing®)
on 22 January 2021.

Pursuant to the Appeal, the Company has pleaded to it Zm M AR
J&BT (the High People’s Court of Beijing®) to rule that the Finance Lease
Agreement and the Guarantee were invalid, and to reject all of the
Plaintiff’s claims.

There was no further development for this litigation since the filing of
Appeal.

The directors of the Company are of the view that no provision should
be provided concerning the Litigation as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 in light of the basis as stated in the Appeal. However, the result of
the Appeal was not yet available up to the date of approving the
consolidated financial statements, which led to the uncertainties on the
extent and financial impact arising from the Litigation on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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RESULTS

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and other gain, net
Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Other loss on assets

Finance costs

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operation
(Loss)/profit for the year from
discontinued operation

(Loss)/profit for the year

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company

— (Loss)/profit from continuing operations
— (Loss)/profit from discontinued operation

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests
— (Loss)/profit from continuing operations

(Loss)/profit attributable to
non-controlling interests

(Loss)/profit attributable to
owners of the Company

Dividend paid

HREEEER
HEMA

EH
HAA R E f s $ 48
GE 1N

TRER

BEAMER

BB

BBiAT (B518), & R
s/ (Fx)

BEEEEHEN (5E),/2F)
TRIEEK
BELLEBTRER)/ i)
# A (5R), R
THALEL

ARAREA

— BRIEE R (18),/5F)

— BRIEEB(EER)/ &R

QRS AR (BE)85H

IR
- BRIEEEB(BR) B

FERERENS (BR) B

AAREE AR (BR)HF

Five-Year Financial Summary

EFUBERE

ES

Year ended 31 December

HE+-_RA=1t—HLFE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-N\F Sy K:3 S 33 T -F —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARMETF T ARETFT ARETFT ARETT AR®T T
(Restated)
(&%)
58,024 81,854 121,404 67,608 175,923
(51,243) (79,742) (90,483) (27,053) (84,248)
6,781 2,112 30,921 40,555 91,675
9,383 2,678 799 777 2,919
(52) (248) (2,900) (638) (1,602)
(28,449) (25,602) (11,933) (15,085) (35,265)
(5,561) (18,970) (225) (109) (164)
(60) @7) - - (1,792
(17,958) (40,057) 16,653 25,500 55,771
3,678 444 (5,161) (8,625) (20,574)
(14,280) (39,613) 11,492 16,875 35,197
(215,475) 148,093 - - -
(229,755) 108,480 11,492 16,875 35,197
(14,280) (39,141) 6,422 9,025 29,217
(215,475) 148,093 - - =
(229,755) 108,952 6,422 9,025 29,217
- (472) 5,070 7,850 5,980
- (472) 5,070 7,850 5,980
(229,755) 108,480 11,492 16,875 35,197
CEREEXEERRAR e S _FFERSE
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFHBERE

(Loss)/earnings per share

Basic

— from continuing and discontinued
operations

— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operation

Diluted
— from continuing and discontinued
operations

— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operation

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

SR(ER),/BAN
%N
~ REGERDRIEER

— REGEER

— BRIEEE

B
— BRIEEREREES

i3

—REL

—BRIEE

BEE

weRE

BEFE

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=+-HLEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—BN\F “E-hE “Z-% —T-F —E-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARBT T
(Restated)
(E51)
RMB(7.7)cents  RMB3.5cents RMBO.2cents  RMBO.3 cents RMB0.95 cents
ARETD ARE35H ARE025 AE#035 AR¥095%
RMB(0.5) cents RMB(1.3)cents  RMB0.2 cents ~ RMBO0.3 cents RMB0.95 cents
AR#05D AR®(13% ARM029 ARK037 AR¥095%
RMB(7.2) cents ~ RMBA4.8 cents - - -
AR¥(T2D  AR¥%48D
RMB(7.7)cents  RMB3.5cents RMBO.2cents  RMBO.3 cents RMBO0.89 cents
ARE@TD AR#35S AR¥029 AR%039 AR¥0.89%
RMB(0.5) cents RMB(1.3)cents  RMBO.2 cents ~ RMBO.3 cents RMBO0.89 cents
ARE©05D ARE(139 ARE025 AE#035  AK¥089%
RMB(7.2) cents ~ RMBA4.8 cents - - -
ARBT2D AR¥A48S
BEERERE
As at 31 December
W+=ZA=+—H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—Z-N\E —Z-NF “Z-ZF —E--F et et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFTT ARBFT ARBFT AR¥T T
365,730 253,370 290,650 311,237 384,819
(294,203) (65,804) (89,125) (91,686) (128,742)
71,527 187,566 201,625 219,551 256,077
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